
(Stock Code : 180)

KADER HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
(股份代號 : 180)

開達集團有限公司
二零一六年年報

K
A

D
E

R
 H

O
L

D
IN

G
S C

O
M

P
A

N
Y

 L
IM

IT
E

D
A

N
N

U
A

L
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 2

0
1

6
二
零
一
六
年
年
報



Contents

KA
D

ER
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
C

O
M

PA
N

Y 
LI

M
IT

ED

1

 Page

Corporate Information 2

Chairman’s Statement 3

Management Discussion and Analysis 4

Corporate Governance Report 9

Directors’ Report 19

Environmental, Social & Governance Report 30

Independent Auditor’s Report 40

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 46

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 47

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 48

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 50

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 51

Notes to the Financial Statements 52

Group Properties 128

Five-Year Summary 129



Corporate Information

KA
D

ER
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
C

O
M

PA
N

Y 
LI

M
IT

ED

2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors:
Kenneth Ting Woo-shou SBS, JP (Chairman and Managing Director) 
Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun

Non-executive Directors:
Ivan Ting Tien-li
Moses Cheng Mo-chi GBS, OBE, JP

Liu Chee-ming (Retired on 2 June 2016)
Bernie Ting Wai-cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors: 
Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin
Andrew Yao Cho-fai JP

Desmond Chum Kwan-yue
Ronald Montalto

COMPANY SECRETARY
Lao Wai-keung

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Desmond Chum Kwan-yue (Chairman) 

(Independent Non-executive Director)
Moses Cheng Mo-chi  

(Non-executive Director)
Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin  

(Independent Non-executive Director)
Andrew Yao Cho-fai  

(Independent Non-executive Director)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Andrew Yao Cho-fai (Chairman)
 (Independent Non-executive Director)
Kenneth Ting Woo-shou
 (Executive Director)
Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin
 (Independent Non-executive Director)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Kenneth Ting Woo-shou (Chairman)
 (Executive Director)
Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin
 (Independent Non-executive Director)
Desmond Chum Kwan-yue
 (Independent Non-executive Director)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Kenneth Ting Woo-shou
Ivan Ting Tien-li

SOLICITORS
P.C. Woo & Co.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
22 Kai Cheung Road
Kowloon Bay
Kowloon
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Canon’s Court 
22 Victoria Street 
Hamilton HM 12 
Bermuda 

PRINCIPAL BANKERS 
China CITIC Bank International Limited 
Chong Hing Bank Limited 
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited 
Hang Seng Bank Limited 
The Bank of East Asia, Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
KPMG 
Certified Public Accountants 

PRINCIPAL REGISTRARS 
Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited
Canon’s Court 
22 Victoria Street 
Hamilton HM 12 
Bermuda 

HONG KONG BRANCH REGISTRARS AND 
TRANSFER OFFICE 
Computershare Hong Kong Investor  

Services Limited 
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor 
Hopewell Centre 
183 Queen’s Road East 
Hong Kong



Chairman’s Statement

KA
D

ER
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
C

O
M

PA
N

Y 
LI

M
IT

ED

3

I have pleasure in presenting to our shareholders the annual report of Kader Holdings Company 
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 
December 2016.

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, the Group’s revenue for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to approximately HK$753.55 million, representing 
a decrease of approximately 15.66% over that reported last year and the profit from operations 
for 2016 amounted to approximately HK$102.37 million as compared to last year’s profit from 
operations of approximately HK$115.44 million. The Group’s profit attributable to shareholders 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 was approximately HK$122.91 million, which 
included valuation gains on investment properties amounting to approximately HK$57.72 million, 
as compared to last year’s profit attributable to shareholders of approximately HK$124.34 million 
which included valuation gains on investment properties of approximately HK$48.89 million.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents per ordinary share (2015: 
HK1.5 cents per ordinary share) for the year ended 31 December 2016 payable on 29 June 2017 
to those shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company as at 
the close of business on 21 June 2017 subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Group still achieved a satisfactory result for 2016 amid market uncertainties and the profit 
from operations for 2016 decreased slightly as compared to that of 2015. The unexpected results 
of Brexit referendum and presidential election in the United States are likely to have a far-reaching 
global impact on the political and economic environment in the year ahead. The Group’s growth 
strategy is to progressively enhance the development of its core business by building up sales 
channels, developing its own brand products, exploring new sales opportunities in the global 
market, etc. Faced with the challenging operating conditions, the Group will continue to streamline 
the operational procedures to enhance the efficiency and implement various measures to minimize 
the costs. With the above measures and the experienced and dedicated management team, the 
Group is optimistic to deliver good returns to the shareholders in the future.

The Group has the intention to revitalize the investment properties where our head office currently 
situates, and has commenced initial procedures and submitted the relevant documents to the 
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. The revitalization will increase the 
value of the investment properties and the rental income in the future.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to all 
employees who devoted themselves to the Group during the past year. Their contributions are 
unfailing and most instrumental to the continued viability of the Group. In addition, I take this 
opportunity to extend our gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business partners and shareholders 
for their steadfast support of the Group.

Kenneth Ting Woo-shou
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2017
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RESULTS

The Board announces that the Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 
amounted to approximately HK$753.55 million, representing a decrease of approximately 15.66% 
over that reported last year and that profit from operations for 2016 amounted to approximately 
HK$102.37 million as compared to last year’s profit from operations of approximately HK$115.44 
million. The Group’s profit attributable to shareholders for the financial year ended 31 December 
2016 was approximately HK$122.91 million, which included valuation gains on investment properties 
amounting to approximately HK$57.72 million, as compared to last year’s profit attributable to 
shareholders of approximately HK$124.34 million which included valuation gains on investment 
properties of approximately HK$48.89 million.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The uncertainties of the global economy presented challenging operating conditions in 2016. 
Amid market uncertainties, the Group still achieved a satisfactory result for 2016. To sustain the 
business growth in the long run, the Group will progressively explore new sales opportunities, 
implement various measures to increase efficiency and strengthen the cost control measures.

Toys and Model Trains

For the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the revenue was approximately HK$702.68 
million, representing a decrease of approximately 16.89% as compared to last year.

The Group will continue to manufacture high quality products with competitive prices to increase 
the revenue and profit.

Property Investment

For the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s rental income amounted to 
approximately HK$50.87 million, representing an increase of approximately 5.98% over the previous 
year. In addition, the Group recorded valuation gains of approximately HK$57.72 million on its 
investment properties for the year, as compared to last year’s valuation gains of approximately 
HK$48.89 million.

During the year under review, the occupancy rate of its investment properties is above 87%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial position and results of operations may be affected by a number of risks 
and uncertainties pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The following are the key risks and 
uncertainties identified by the Group.

Business Risk

Performance of the Group’s core business will be affected by various factors, including but not 
limited to economic conditions which would not be mitigated even with strict operational procedures.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings. The Group analyses its 
interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and manages this risk in a cost-effective manner.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that the Group will be unable to meet its obligations when they 
fall due because of an inability to obtain adequate funding. In managing the liquidity risk, the 
Group monitors the cash flows and will negotiate with banks to increase the banking facilities, 
if necessary.

Customer risk

The sales to one of the Group’s customers represented approximately 52% of the Group’s sales 
in 2016. The Group has endeavoured to diversify its customer base and provided quality products 
and services to the customers to maintain good relationship with them so as to mitigate the 
customer risk.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Major assets, liabilities and transactions of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars 
(“HKD”), United States dollars (“USD”), Sterling Pounds (“GBP”) and Renminbi Yuan. During the 
year under review, the majority of the Group’s revenues were denominated in HKD, USD and GBP 
while the majority of its raw materials and equipment purchases were settled in HKD. As such, 
the Group faces a certain degree of exchange rate risk mainly arising from GBP denominated 
sales transactions for which the exchange rate volatility is relatively high.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

Effective environmental protection measures will not only contribute to environmental protection 
but also reduction of the operating costs. The following are some measures adopted by the Group:

1. Chemical wastes produced by the production plants are collected and treated properly by 
licensed waste collectors.

2. Lightings and electrical appliances are switched off when unnecessary.

3. Some traditional vehicles are replaced by hybrid vehicle and electric vehicle.

4. Energy-efficient lightings are used in our offices and production plants

5. “Save water” labels are posted in the pantries

The management will from time to time review the effectiveness of such measures and consider 
implementing other measures for environmental protection.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year under review, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the 
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the Group’s 
business and operations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognizes that our employees, customers and business partners are the keys to our 
sustainable development. The Group is committed to establish a close and caring relationship 
with our employees, provide quality services to our customers and enhance cooperation with 
our business partners.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s net asset value per share was approximately HK$1.90 (2015: 
approximately HK$1.81). The Group had net current assets of approximately HK$9.67 million (2015: 
approximately HK$28.86 million). Total bank borrowings were approximately HK$329.59 million (2015: 
approximately HK$366.70 million) while the secured total banking facilities were approximately 
HK$795.89 million (2015: approximately HK$839.35 million). Included in total bank borrowings 
were revolving loans of approximately HK$210.89 million (2015: approximately HK$240.74 million) 
which are intended to be rolled over upon maturity. The Group’s financial gearing, based on the 
total bank borrowings compared to the total equity, was approximately 18.29% (2015: approximately 
21.35%). The majority of borrowings are on floating interest rate terms. The Group will negotiate 
with banks to increase the banking facilities for working capital needs, if necessary.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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At 31 December 2016, an overseas subsidiary of the Group could not fulfil certain covenants 
imposed by banks on certain loans of an aggregate amount of HK$17,974,000. These loans were 
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

At 31 December 2015, an overseas subsidiary of the Group could not fulfil certain covenants 
imposed by a bank on certain loans of an aggregate amount of HK$4,736,000. Following the 
application of a waiver of the above breach to the bank, the overseas subsidiary was granted a 
waiver by the bank on 27 March 2016.

Such breach entitled the bank to declare the outstanding principal amount, accrued interest and 
other sums payable under the agreement to become immediately due and payable.

Other than the above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the covenants relating to drawn down 
facilities has been breached. Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set 
out in note 26(b).

Capital Structure

During the year, there were no changes in the Company’s share capital.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2016, investment properties, certain leasehold land and buildings, inventories 
and other assets of the Group with a net book value of approximately HK$1,862.90 million (2015: 
approximately HK$1,817.37 million) were mortgaged to various banks to secure the banking 
facilities granted to the Group.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

There were no material acquisitions and disposals during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2016, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.



KA
D

ER
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
C

O
M

PA
N

Y 
LI

M
IT

ED

8

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group employed 2,079 (2015: 3,130) full time management, 
administrative and production staff in Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Mainland China, 
the United States (the “US”) and Europe. The Group has seasonal fluctuations in the number of 
workers employed in its production plants while the number of management and administrative 
staff remains stable. The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, experience 
and prevailing industry practices. In the area of staff training, the Group encourages staff to 
participate in courses on technical skills improvement and personal development.

PROSPECTS

With the robust cost control measures and experienced management team, the Group remains 
optimistic about its prospects in the challenging year ahead. Meanwhile, the Group has the 
intention to revitalize the investment properties, and has commenced initial procedures and 
submitted the relevant documents to the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative 
Region. The revitalization will enhance the Group’s source of revenue and profitability.

By order of the Board
Kenneth Ting Woo-shou
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2017
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year 
ended 31 December 2016.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance to enhance 
corporate performance and accountability. The Board regularly reviews and adopts corporate 
governance guidelines and developments. The Board believes that good corporate governance 
will in the long term serve to enhance shareholders’ value.

The Board sets its corporate governance procedure and duties pursuant to the Corporate 
Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”), and it accordingly reviews and monitors the training and continuous development in 
profession of directors and senior management and its policies and practices in compliance with 
relevant laws and regulatory requirements. The Company has adopted and applied a corporate 
governance policy. During the reporting year, the Group has complied with all code provisions 
set out in the CG Code, except for the deviation from CG Code A.2.1 as described below:

Under CG Code A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should 
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou has the combined role 
of Chairman and Managing Director. The Board considers that this structure will not impair the 
balance of power and authority between the Board and the management of the Group as non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors (“INEDs”) form the majority of the 
Board, with seven out of nine of the directors of the Company being non-executive directors 
and INEDs. The Board believes the appointment of Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou to the posts of 
Chairman and Managing Director is beneficial to the Group as he has considerable industry 
experience.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its model code for 
securities transactions by the Company’s directors and relevant employees who are or may be 
in possession of unpublished inside information. Based on specific enquiries made, all directors 
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises two Executive Directors (one of whom is the Chairman and Managing 
Director of the Company), three Non-executive Directors and four INEDs. The biographical details 
of all directors of the Company, including the relationship amongst them, are set out on pages 
21 to 24 of this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Chairman and Managing Director

Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou currently holds the offices of Chairman and Managing Director of 
the Company. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Managing Director 
in the same person provides the Company with strong and consistent leadership and allows for 
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions and strategies.

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors and INEDs are selected with the necessary skills and experience to 
provide a strong independent element on the Board and to exercise independent judgement. All 
Non-executive Directors and INEDs are engaged on a term of service of two years renewable for 
another two years upon expiry. The Board believes the Non-executive Directors and INEDs are well 
qualified and competent in advising the Group on business strategies, finance and management 
issues. The INEDs are explicitly identified in all corporate communications, and one of them has 
significant accounting and financial expertise as provided under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. 
The Board has received from each INED a written annual confirmation of independence. All the 
INEDs meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at the annual general meeting following 
their appointment and at least every three years on a rotational basis. Where vacancies exist 
on the Board, candidates are proposed and put forward to the Board for consideration and 
approval. In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all newly appointed directors shall hold 
office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company after their appointment 
and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Upon their appointment, the new directors receive a package of orientation materials and attend 
extensive presentations given by senior executives to review the Group’s businesses and to 
understand the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. Development 
and training of directors is an ongoing process so that they can perform their duties appropriately. 
The Group continuously updates the directors on the latest changes in the commercial environment 
and the current development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, 
to ensure compliance and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices. 
All directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense.
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The directors have provided to the Company their training records in the year. All of them have 
participated in appropriate continuous professional development by attending trainings or reading 
materials relevant to the Company’s business or the directors’ duties and responsibilities. All 
directors, namely Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou, Mrs. Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun, Mr. Ivan Ting 
Tien-li, Dr. Moses Cheng Mo-chi, Mr. Bernie Ting Wai-cheung, Mr. Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin, Mr. 
Andrew Yao Cho-fai, Mr. Desmond Chum Kwan-yue and Mr. Ronald Montalto complied with Code 
Provision A.6.5 of the CG code during the reporting year.

During the year, the Company has renewed a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance which 
provides appropriate cover for the directors and senior management.

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction and policies of the Group and 
supervising management. The functions normally reserved for the Board are the monitoring and 
approving material transactions; steering the Group on strategic direction; setting up a Board 
committee for issues the Board deems appropriate; reviewing and approving the interim and 
final results; overseeing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system; 
evaluating major corporate, strategic and operational issues that have a significant impact on 
the Group; and evaluating major investment opportunities which management has not already 
identified and/or, if the investment is so material, requires the Board to make a decision.

Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year. Additional board meetings will be held 
when required. The board papers and related materials are dispatched to the directors within a 
reasonable time before the board meetings. In addition, directors have full access to information 
of the Group and can obtain independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary. The 
Company Secretary is responsible for communications with Board members.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Attendance Records of Directors

The attendance records of individual members of the Board and other Board Committees during 
the financial year are set out as below:

Number of meetings attended/held

Board  
Meeting

Audit  
Committee  

Meeting

Remuneration  
Committee  

Meeting

Nomination  
Committee  

Meeting

Annual  
General  
Meeting

Number of meetings held 4 2 1 1 1

Executive Directors
Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou  

(Chairman, Managing Director &  

Nomination Committee Chairman)

4/4 – 1/1 1/1 1/1

Mrs. Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun 3/4 – – – 0/1

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ivan Ting Tien-li 4/4 – – – 0/1
Dr. Moses Cheng Mo-chi 4/4 0/2 – – 0/1
Mr. Liu Chee-ming  

(Retired on 2 June 2016)

0/1 0/1 – – 0/1

Mr. Bernie Ting Wai-cheung 4/4 – – – 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 0/1
Mr. Andrew Yao Cho-fai  

(Remuneration Committee Chairman)

4/4 2/2 1/1 – 0/1

Mr. Desmond Chum Kwan-yue  
(Audit Committee Chairman)

3/4 2/2 – 1/1 1/1

Mr. Ronald Montalto 3/4 – – – 0/1
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board established three committees, namely, Remuneration 
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee to oversee particular aspects of the 
Group’s affairs.

The Company also established the Executive Committee in July 2006 with delegated authority to 
deal with the various miscellaneous banking matters of the Company. This committee comprises 
all the Executive Directors of the Company.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions which included:–

(a) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(b) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal 
and regulatory requirements;

(c) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of the 
directors and senior management;

(d) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable to employees and 
directors of the Company; and

(e) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG code and disclosure in the Corporate 
Governance Report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 with written Terms of Reference posted on 
the Company’s website. The Remuneration Committee comprises two INEDs and one Executive 
Director. Currently, the Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Andrew Yao Cho-fai. Other 
members of the Committee are Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou and Mr. Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin.

During the year, Remuneration Committee held one meeting to perform their functions as specified 
in the terms of reference. The role and function of the Committee is to make recommendations to 
the Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of all directors and senior management 
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration 
policy. The remuneration packages of the directors are determined by this Committee based on 
the profitability of the Group, the relevant market data, the performance and contribution of the 
individual directors. The primary objective is to retain and motivate the directors by linking their 
remuneration with performance and measuring it against corporate goals. However, no director 
can approve his or her own remuneration.

The emoluments of each of the directors of the Company for 2016 are set out in note 7 to the 
financial statements.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999 with written Terms of Reference posted on the 
Company’s website. The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs and one Non-executive Director. 
All committee members have appropriate industry and/or financial experience to perform their 
role in the business of the Audit Committee. Currently, the Committee is chaired by Mr. Desmond 
Chum Kwan-yue and the other members of the Committee are Dr. Moses Cheng Mo-chi, Mr. 
Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin and Mr. Andrew Yao Cho-fai.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year to perform their functions as specified 
in the Terms of Reference. During the year under review, the Audit Committee has met with 
management to review the interim and annual financial statements and to consider key accounting 
policies, and discussed with management the Group’s risk management and internal controls 
and auditing and financial reporting matters. 

Under its Terms of Reference, the duties of the Audit Committee, amongst other things, shall 
be to oversee the relationship with the external auditors, to be primarily responsible for making 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external 
auditors, to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, to 
consider any questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor, and to review with senior 
management and external auditors the accounting principles and practices adopted, the Listing 
Rules and statutory compliance, internal control, related party transactions, risk management 
and financial reporting matters, including interim and annual financial statements and to provide 
recommendations to the Board.

The Audit Committee members have monitored the integrity of the Group’s financial statements, 
annual and interim reports and accounts. They have also reviewed the significant financial 
reporting judgements contained in them. The review of the financial statements in the annual 
and interim reports, before submission to the Board, focused on:

1. Any changes in accounting policies and practices;

2. Major judgemental areas;

3. Significant adjustments resulting from audit;

4. The going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

5. Compliance with accounting standards;

6. Compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal requirements in relation to financial 
reporting; and

7. Any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in such reports 
and accounts and give due consideration to any matters that have been raised by senior 
management.
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The Audit Committee also discussed issues and reservations arising from the audit work 
performed, and any matters the auditors might wish to discuss (in the absence of management 
where necessary).

The Audit Committee has performed an annual review of the control systems which included:

1. Reviewing the financial controls, risk management and internal control systems;

2. Discussing with management the system of risk management and internal control to ensure 
that management has performed its duty to have an effective risk management and internal 
control system including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff, 
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting 
function;

3. Considering any findings of major investigations on risk management and internal control 
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s response;

4. Ensuring co-ordination between the internal and external auditors, and ensuring that the 
internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the 
Group, and reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit function;

5. Reviewing arrangements employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to raise 
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters 
and ensuring that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation 
of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

6. Reviewing the external auditor’s management letter, any material queries raised by the 
auditor to management in respect of the accounting records, financial accounts or systems 
of control and management’s response;

7. Ensuring that the Board provided a timely response to the issues raised in the external 
auditor’s management letter; and

8. Reporting to the Board on these matters as deemed appropriate.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written Terms of Reference posted 
on the Company’s website. The Nomination Committee comprises two INEDs and one Executive 
Director. Currently, the Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou. Other 
members of the Committee are Mr. Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin and Mr. Desmond Chum Kwan-yue.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year. The duties of the Committee are to 
(i) review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of 
the Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to 
complement corporate strategy; (ii) identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members 
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated 
for directorship; (iii) assess the independence of INEDs; and (iv) make recommendations to the 
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors, 
in particular the Chairman and the chief executive.

The Company has formulated the Board Diversity Policy in August 2013 aiming at setting out the 
approach on diversity of the Board of the Company. Selection of candidates will be based on a 
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision 
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Each year, the auditors are appointed at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and at the AGM 
held on 2 June 2016, directors were authorised to fix the auditors’ remuneration for auditing 
services rendered.

The fees for audit and audit related services provided by the Group’s auditors, KPMG, for the 
year ended 31 December 2016 are as follows:

Service rendered Fees paid/payable
HK$’000

Audit services 2,537,000
Tax services 442,000

 

2,979,000
 

In addition, audit services and tax services were provided by other auditors to certain subsidiaries 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the related fees amounted to HK$1,509,000 and 
HK$224,000 respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the auditors have not so far provided any significant non-auditing 
services. Should any non-auditing services be considered to be conducted by our auditors, the 
Audit Committee would consider these proposals based on the policy developed by them in this 
regard, and would then make recommendations to the Board.
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RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. The directors 
are responsible for ensuring that the Group maintains accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group and which enable the preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the New Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, and all applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. The directors are 
responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is 
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The responsibility of the auditors with respect to the financial statements is set out in the 
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 40 to 45 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group is committed to set up and maintain an effective risk management and internal control 
systems which are devised to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss, and to manage and minimize rather than eliminate the risks of failure in 
the Group’s operational systems.

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective risk management and internal 
control systems particularly in respect of the controls on financial, operational, compliance and 
risk management, to achieve the Group’s business strategies and business operations and 
safeguard the Company’s assets.

During the 2016, the outsourced internal auditor responsible for the review and appraisal on the 
effectiveness of financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management of the Group, 
provided reports to the Audit Committee and the management highlighting observations and 
recommendations to improve the risk management and internal control systems. The management 
agreed on the findings and adopted the recommendations accordingly.

The Audit Committee considered that there was no material defect in the Company’s internal 
control review report.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviewed the overall effectiveness of the Group’s 
risk management and internal control systems during the year, including financial, operational, 
compliance and risk management. The Board is of the view that the existing risk management 
and internal control systems are effective and adequate to the Group.
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For the handling and dissemination of inside information, the Group has set up the following 
procedures and internal controls:

(1) The non-disclosure of confidential information is codified in the staff handbook;

(2) The inside information will only be disseminated to specified persons on a need-to-know 
basis; and

(3) The notifications regarding blackout period and securities dealing restrictions are sent to 
the relevant directors and employees.

The Group will review the effectiveness of the current procedures from time to time to ensure 
the compliance of the regulatory requirements.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which at least 21 days’ 
notice is given. This provides opportunities for shareholders and investors to raise their queries 
and share their views with our directors and/or senior management. Shareholders may call for 
special general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration by shareholders by 
sending to the Company Secretary at the principal place of business a written request for such 
general meetings together with the proposed agenda items. At any general meeting a resolution 
put to the vote of the meeting must be taken by poll.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group endeavours to continue maintaining a high level of transparency in communicating 
with shareholders and investors. The Group is committed to maintain two-way communications 
with shareholders and investors and to update shareholders and investors on relevant information 
in its business in a timely manner subject to the relevant regulatory requirements.

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the Company Secretary by post at the principal place 
of business of the Company.

The Group maintains a corporate website at www.kaderholdings.com which enables shareholders 
and investors to track the Group’s latest developments. This acts as an effective medium for 
information disclosure, and provides comprehensive and update information on the Group’s 
operations, announcements, circulars, notices, as well as interim and annual reports. During 
the year, there is no substantial change in the Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of 
the Company.

As at 31 December 2016, the Company had 950,587,991 shares in issue, with a par value of 
HK$0.10 each. Interests of the directors and chief executives in the shares of the Company are 
disclosed in the Directors’ Report set out on pages 25 to 26 of the annual report.
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The Directors of the Company have pleasure in submitting their annual report together with the 
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 with limited 
liability. The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the manufacture and trading of plastic, electronic 
and stuffed toys and model trains, property investment, and investment holding.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the operations of the Group 
during the financial year are set out in note 10 to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries at 31 December 2016 are set out in note 13 to 
the financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the state of the Company’s 
and the Group’s affairs at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 46 to 127.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis on 
pages 4 to 8. An analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators 
is provided in the Five-Year Summary on pages 129 to 130. No important events affecting the 
Group have occurred since the end of the financial year under review.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial 
years is set out on pages 129 to 130 of the annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL 

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 25(c) to the financial statements. 
There was no change in the authorized and issued share capital during the year.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

Profits attributable to shareholders, before dividends, of approximately HK$122,905,000 (2015: 
approximately HK$124,339,000) have been transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves 
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.



KA
D

ER
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
C

O
M

PA
N

Y 
LI

M
IT

ED

20

Directors’ Report (Continued)

KA
D

ER
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
C

O
M

PA
N

Y 
LI

M
IT

ED

20

DIVIDEND

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents per ordinary share (2015: 
HK1.5 cents per ordinary share) for the year ended 31 December 2016 payable on 29 June 2017 
to those shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company as at 
the close of business on 21 June 2017 subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year for charitable and other purposes amounted to 
approximately HK$350,000 (2015: HK$318,000). 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in note 11 to the financial 
statements.

BANK LOANS

Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2016 are set out in note 20 to the 
financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY

Particulars of the property of the Group are shown on page 128 of the annual report.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s largest suppliers and 
customers are as follows:

2016 2015
% %

Purchases
– the largest supplier 17 24
– five largest suppliers combined 46 50

Sales
– the largest customer 52 50
– five largest customers combined 64 62
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None of the directors, their associates or shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors 
own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest at any time during the year 
in the above customers or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year 
ended 31 December 2016 are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Board during the financial year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors: 
Kenneth Ting Woo-shou (Chairman and Managing Director)
Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun

Non-executive Directors:
Ivan Ting Tien-li
Moses Cheng Mo-chi
Liu Chee-ming (retired by rotation at the Annual General Meeting held on 2 June 2016)
Bernie Ting Wai-cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin
Andrew Yao Cho-fai
Desmond Chum Kwan-yue
Ronald Montalto

The Company has received from each of its INEDs an annual confirmation of his independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers its INEDs to be independent. 
Members of the Board clearly understand their responsibility and obligations.

The Directors of the Company shall retire by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws 
109 (A) and 189 (ix). The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting.

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chairman and Managing Director

Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou, SBS, JP, aged 74, was reappointed as the Managing Director of 
the Company in July 2012. He was appointed as the Chairman of the Company and resigned as 
the Managing Director of the Company in July 2010. He has been the Managing Director of the 
Company since its incorporation in 1989. He has been a director of Kader Industrial Company 
Limited since 1971 and was appointed as the Chairman in 1993. He was appointed as an 
Independent Non-executive Director of Cheuk Nang (Holdings) Limited in November 2012. He 
is also an Independent Non-executive Director of Wheelock and Company Limited.
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Mr. Ting currently serves as the Honorary President of HK Wuxi Trade Association Limited, The 
Federation of HK Jiangsu Community Organisation, Federation of Hong Kong Industries, The 
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong and The Toys Manufacturers’ Association of 
Hong Kong Limited, and the Honorary Life President of the Hong Kong Plastics Manufacturers’ 
Association Limited.

He also serves as a member of a number of other trade organisations and public committees 
such as The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce. He is Life Honorary Court Member of 
The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He also serves as member of the Jiangsu 
Provincial Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Ting is a director of H.C. Ting’s Holdings Limited which is a substantial shareholder of the 
Company. He is the father of Mr. Ivan Ting Tien-li, the Non-executive Director of the Company, 
husband of Mrs. Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun, the Executive Director of the Company, and uncle 
of Mr. Bernie Ting Wai-cheung, the Non-executive Director of the Company.

Executive Director

Mrs. Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun, aged 69, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the 
Company in January 2008, and was redesignated as an Executive Director of the Company in 
February 2009. She has been an Executive Director of Kader Industrial Company Limited since 
2001. Mrs. Ting has not held any directorship in other listed public companies in the last three 
years. She is the wife of Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou, the Chairman and Managing Director of 
the Company, mother of Mr. Ivan Ting Tien-li, the Non-executive Director of the Company, and 
auntie of Mr. Bernie Ting Wai-cheung, the Non-executive Director of the Company.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ivan Ting Tien-li, aged 41, was appointed as the Managing Director of the Company in 
July 2010 and stepped down in July 2012. He remains as a Non-executive Director of the 
Company. He was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in April 2006. He holds a 
Bachelor’s Degree in International Politics and Economics. He has been an Executive Director 
of Kader Industrial Company Limited since 1998. Apart from this, he also serves as director of 
certain other subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ting currently serves as the General Committee 
Member of the Hong Kong Exporters’ Association. He is the son of Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou, 
the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company and Mrs. Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun, the 
Executive Director of the Company, and the cousin of Mr. Bernie Ting Wai-cheung, the Non-
executive Director of the Company.

Dr. Moses Cheng Mo-chi, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 67, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in March 1999, and was redesignated as a Non-executive 
Director of the Company in September 2004.
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Dr. Cheng is a consultant of Messrs. P.C. Woo & Co. Dr. Cheng was a member of the Legislative 
Council of Hong Kong. He is the founder chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors of which 
he is now the Honorary President and Chairman Emeritus. Dr. Cheng currently holds directorships 
in China Mobile Limited, China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, Towngas China 
Company Limited, K. Wah International Holdings Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, 
Guangdong Investment Limited and Tian An China Investments Company Limited, all being public 
listed companies in Hong Kong. He is also an Independent Non-executive Director of ARA Asset 
Management Limited, a company whose shares are listed on Singapore Exchange Limited. His 
other directorships in public listed companies in the last three years include Hong Kong Television 
Network Limited. Save as disclosed above, Dr. Cheng did not hold any directorship, whether in 
Hong Kong or overseas, in any other public listed companies in the previous three years.

Mr. Bernie Ting Wai-cheung, aged 51, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company 
in July 2010. He was appointed as a director of Kader Industrial Company Limited since July 
2010. He is the Director & General Manager of Qualidux Industrial Company Limited. He studied 
Mechanical Engineering at the University of Toronto, Canada. He obtained his MBA at Worcester 
Polytechnic Institute in the USA. He briefly worked in a manufacturing company in Canada. He 
is now working at Qualidux Industrial Company Limited as the Director & General Manager. Mr. 
Ting has not held any directorship in other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. Ting is the Honorary President of Hong Kong Toys Council under the auspices of the 
Federations of Hong Kong Industries. He became the Vice President of International Council of 
Toys Industries (ICTI) in 2009 to 2015 and became the Vice President of Asian Committee of Toy 
Industries in January 2016. He is the Vice President of The Toys Manufacturers’ Association of 
Hong Kong. As part of his public duties in Hong Kong, he is the Chairman of Hong Kong Q-Mark 
Council and the Vice Chairman of The Hong Kong Standards and Testing Centre Ltd. He is the 
Director of Hong Kong Certification Centre Limited. He is the member of “CreateSmart Initiative” 
Vetting Committee. Mr. Ting is the Vice President of The Hong Kong Plastics Manufacturers 
Association Limited. He has been appointed by the Financial Secretary of the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region as member of Standing Committee on Company Law Reform for two years 
from 1 February 2017 to 31 January 2019. He contributes his spare time to community service 
through Rotary Club of Hong Kong South.

He is the nephew of Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou, the Chairman and Managing Director of the 
Company and Mrs. Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun, the Executive Director of the Company, and the 
cousin of Mr. Ivan Ting Tien-li, the Non-executive Director of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin, aged 73, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of 
the Company in September 2004. Mr. Chan is a member of the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 
He had been a partner of BDO Seidman in the United States for many years. He was the Asia 
Pacific Regional Coordinator of BDO International and a member of BDO McCabe Lo Limited’s 
executive committee in Hong Kong. He has significant experience in assisting clients in exploring 
business opportunities in the Asia Pacific region, particularly the Southeast Asian developing 
countries and The People’s Republic of China. He is also closely involved with assisting clients 
in developing business in North America and Europe.
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Mr. Andrew Yao Cho-fai, JP, aged 51, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director 
of the Company in September 2004. Mr. Yao, graduated from the University of California, Berkeley 
and Harvard Graduate School of Business, is the Chairman of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance 
Holdings Limited (formerly Van Shung Chong Holdings Limited)(a company listed on the Main 
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited).

Mr. Yao is the Hong Kong Deputy of the 12th National People’s Congress of People’s Republic 
of China, Vice Chairman of Shanghai Chinese Overseas Friendship Association, Chairman of 
Hongkong-Shanghai Economic Development Association, Deputy Chairman of the Council of 
Hong Kong Baptist University, Vice Chairman of Shanghai Federation of Industry & Commerce, 
Board Member of Fudan University in Shanghai.

Mr. Desmond Chum Kwan-yue, aged 44, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive 
Director of the Company in March 2009. Mr. Chum is a portfolio manager at Claren Road Asset 
Management, a US based credit hedge fund. Prior to working at Claren Road Asset Management, 
Mr. Chum was a Managing Director of Citigroup where he spent 12 years and helped to build 
its fixed income franchise in Asia. He oversaw a team of investment professionals and ran the 
Global Special Situations Group’s investment activities in the Greater China Region. He has 
extensive experience in sourcing, evaluating and executing private lending, private equity and 
real estate investments in the Greater China Region. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of Classified Group (Holdings) Limited since June 2016. Mr. Chum graduated 
from Oxford University.

Mr. Ronald Montalto, aged 68, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the 
Company in April 2009. Mr. Montalto graduated from East Carolina University in 1971. He was also 
awarded Juris Doctor from Emory University School of Law in 1974. Mr. Montalto was practicing 
Attorney in Atlanta between 1975 and 1982. Currently, he is Member of State Bar of California 
(Inactive). After his retirement from Mattel in 2004, Mr. Montalto consulted for Mattel Inc. senior 
management and developed a plan to relocate all Mattel’s European manufacturing operations and 
back office support to Asia during 2005. He was a Senior Vice President of various Operations at 
Mattel where he worked for 21 years (15 of which were in Hong Kong) and established Mattel’s 
Asian sourcing unit and was responsible for managing and integrating Mattel Brands’ procurement 
and manufacturing Operations. He was a Director of Business Development at Mattel Far East 
Operations (Hong Kong) between 1983 and 1987. Since retirement, Mr. Montalto has consulted 
periodically on sales advisory programs for Teradata, a division of NCR (National Cash Register 
Corporation). He also conducted an Asian business/supply chain study for Enesco, an industry 
leading international giftware company headquartered in Chicago and Dansk Investment Group, 
a California company with manufacturing operations in Shanghai. Mr. Montalto has not held any 
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three years.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting have an unexpired 
service contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one 
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

All Non-executive Directors and INEDs are engaged on a term of service of two years, renewable 
for another two years upon expiry, and subject to re-election upon retirement by rotation at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting under the Company’s Bye-laws 109(A) and 189(ix).

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying 
Shares of the Company and the Associated Corporations 

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executives 
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any 
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance 
(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the 
Model Code were as follows:

(1) Interests in the Company

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
 

Name of directors
Personal  
interests

Family  
interests

Corporate  
interests

Total  
interests

% of  
total issued  

share capital
       

Kenneth Ting Woo-shou 292,715,941 2,075,183 (i) 258,963,571 (ii) 553,754,695 58.25%
Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun 2,075,183 – – 2,075,183 0.22%
Ivan Ting Tien-li 20,480,432 – – 20,480,432 2.15%
Moses Cheng Mo-chi 15,714 – – 15,714 0.00%
Bernie Ting Wai-cheung – – – – –
Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin – – – – –
Andrew Yao Cho-fai – – – – –
Desmond Chum Kwan-yue – – – – –
Ronald Montalto – – – – –

Notes:

(i) The spouse of Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou is the beneficial shareholder.

(ii) Included in the “Corporate Interests” above were 209,671,000 shares of the Company held by 

the Company’s substantial shareholder, H.C. Ting’s Holdings Limited, in which Mr. Kenneth Ting 

Woo-shou has a controlling interest through Border Shipping Limited; and 49,292,571 shares of 

the Company held by Glory Town Limited, in which Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou has a controlling 

interest through Tyrol Investments Limited.
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(2) Interests in Associated Corporations

Number of shares held
 

Name of  
associated  
corporations

Beneficial  
interests Class of shares

Personal  
interests

Family  
interests

Corporate  
interests

% of interests  
in associated  
corporations

        

Allman Holdings Limited Ivan Ting Tien-li Ordinary shares of 
US$1.00 each

920 (i) – – 63.89%

Pacific Squaw Creek, Inc. Ivan Ting Tien-li Ordinary shares of 
US$1.00 each

– – 1,000 (ii) 100.00%

Squaw Creek Associates, LLC Ivan Ting Tien-li Not applicable  (iii) – – – 62.00% (iv)

Squaw Creek Associates, LLC Kenneth Ting Woo-
shou

Not applicable  (iii) – – – 13.00% (v)

Notes:

(i) These interests are held by Mr. Ivan Ting Tien-li.

(ii) These interests are held by Allman Holdings Limited (“Allman”). Mr. Ivan Ting Tien-li’s beneficial 

interests in Allman are disclosed in note (i) above.

(iii) Squaw Creek Associates, LLC (“SCA”) does not have issued share capital, the percentage of 

interest in SCA represents the interest in capital account balance.

(iv) These interests are held by Pacific Squaw Creek, Inc. (“PSC”). Mr. Ivan Ting Tien-li’s beneficial 

interests in PSC are disclosed in note (ii) above.

(v) These interests are held by Ting Corporation which is wholly owned by Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-

shou.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31 December 2016, no short positions 
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the directors and chief executives 
of the Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age has interests or short 
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations, as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or 
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSON’S INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2016, substantial shareholders and other persons (other than directors or 
chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying 
shares and debentures of the Company which were recorded in the register kept by the Company 
under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
 

Substantial  
shareholders  
and other persons

Personal  
interests

Family  
interests

Corporate  
interests

Total  
interests

% of  
total issued  

share capital
      

Forest Crimson Limited – – 209,671,000 (i) 209,671,000 22.06%
Ting Hok-shou 13,800,238 571,429 (ii) 39,098,281 (iii) 53,469,948 5.62%
Emily Tsang Wing-hin 571,429 13,800,238 (iv) 39,098,281 (iii) 53,469,948 5.62%

Notes:

(i) Included in the “Corporate Interests” above was 209,671,000 shares of the Company held by the 

Company’s substantial shareholder, H.C. Ting’s Holdings Limited, in which Forest Crimson Limited has 

a controlling interest through Border Shipping Limited.

(ii) The spouse of Mr. Ting Hok-shou, Mrs. Emily Tsang Wing-hin, is the beneficial shareholder.

(iii) Included in the “Corporate Interests” above were 3,913,997 shares of the Company held by Golden 

Tree Investment Company Limited, in which Mr. Ting Hok-shou and Mrs. Emily Tsang Wing-hin together 

have controlling interest; and 35,184,284 shares of the Company held by Kimpont Limited, in which 

Mr. Ting Hok-shou and Mrs. Emily Tsang Wing-hin together have controlling interest through Golden 

Tree Investment Company Limited and Yale Investment Corporation.

(iv) The spouse of Mrs. Emily Tsang Win-hin is the beneficial shareholder.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, the Company was not notified by any persons 
(other than directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions 
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which were recorded in the 
register kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement 
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares 
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The directors’ fees are determined by shareholders at the annual general meeting. The other 
emoluments of the directors and senior management are determined with reference to the prevailing 
market practice, the profitability of the Group, the directors’ performance and responsibilities 
within the Group and contributions to the Group. The Group may also provide discretionary 
bonuses to its employees as an incentive for their contribution to the Group subject to the Group’s 
profitability and the individual’s performance.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither the Company nor any 
of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business 
to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company 
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any 
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. Kenneth Ting Woo-shou and Mr. Bernie Ting 
Wai-cheung, directors of the Company, are considered to have interests in Qualidux Industrial 
Company Limited (“Qualidux”), a company engaging in toy manufacturing long before the listing 
of the Company on the Stock Exchange, which competes or is likely to compete with the business 
of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules. Qualidux employed a total workforce of around 1,100 
employees as at 31 December 2016.

As the Board of the Company is independent from the board of the abovementioned company 
and none of the above directors can control the Board of the Company, the Group is capable of 
carrying on its business independently of, and at arm’s length from, the business of such company.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of 
the directors of the Company as at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained 
the public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued share capital as required under the 
Listing Rules.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company will be proposed at 
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Kenneth Ting Woo-shou
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2017 
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The Group has been an industry leader in toys manufacturing for over 60 years. Apart from 
ensuring excellent quality in our products, one of the core values over our history of business 
development is the implementation of sustainable values throughout our operations.

A company is never just a commercial organization. It is, first and foremost, an employer to its 
employees, a producer to its customers, and at last, a citizen of the society and environment 
that it operates in. We recognize these roles and believe in the importance of sustainability. This 
is why we always work to fulfill the responsibilities of these roles, and strive to be a responsible 
company to all our employees, customers and our environment.

This is the first Environmental, Social & Governance (“ESG”) report to describe the material 
ESG issues of the Group from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016. The Report was prepared 
according to Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities set by the Hong Kong 
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”) in which the Group made reference to the General 
Disclosures of the environmental and social aspect. The information covered in the ESG report 
focused on the two main production factories of Dongguan Feng Da Electronics Company Limited 
in Zhong Tang and GaoBu, and also covered the ESG performance of the Group’s Hong Kong 
office.

Through our first-year ESG report, the Group would like to disclose information on the sustainability 
practices to stakeholders, and record ESG issues systematically as reference for the continuous 
improvement in sustainability performance. The Group is confident that this ESG reporting practice 
will be integral to the Group’s business strategies.

Responsible
Citizen

Responsible
Producer

Responsible
Employer

• Staff development

• Occupational 
safety and health

• Minimize 
environmental 
impacts

• Product 
responsibility

• Anti-bribery

• Protection of 
intellectual 
property
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to identify which specific ESG issues are the most material topics to the Group, an 
online questionnaire was developed and sent to stakeholders. The questionnaire contained a 
set of rating questions that allowed stakeholders to determine the importance and relativity of 
each sustainability indicators to the Group’s operations.

Throughout the process, opinions were collected not only from internal parties such as employees 
or board of directors, but also external parties such as suppliers and customers. The chart below 
shows the ESG topics’ importance ranking according to stakeholders:

Materiality Assessment
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The top five most material topics are summarized in the table below. For more details of our 
efforts, please refer to the later sections.

Topic Key concerns
Our current actions to  
address the concerns Section

    

Child Labor • Measurements to review 
employment practices to 
avoid child labor

• Policy in place to prohibit 
the use or involvement of 
child labor

Responsible 
Employer

Forced Labor • Measurements to review 
employment practices to 
avoid forced labor

• Policy in place to prohibit 
the use or involvement of 
forced labor

Responsible 
Employer

Customer Health 
and Safety

• Product quality control

• Recall procedures

• Strict compliance with local 
health and safety standards 
for products

• Regular quality assessment

• Standard recall procedures 
in case of any product 
quality issues

Responsible 
Producer

Intellectual 
Property (“IP”)

• Protection of intellectual 
property rights

• Security system

• IP Management Committee 
for managing the Group’s IP

• Intellectual Property Security 
Management System to 
ensure protection of the 
Group’s IP

Responsible 
Citizen

Anti-corruption • Corruption preventive 
measures

• Policy to prevent employees 
from engaging in corruption, 
bribery, or other illegal 
activities

Responsible 
Citizen
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RESPONSIBLE PRODUCER

As a responsible producer, we are accountable not only to our customers and the end products, 
but also the impacts of our production process to the environment.

To the Environment

To ensure that our production does not cause undesirable impacts on the environment, we pay 
close attention to our production process and strive to minimize its impacts to the environment. 
We have devised a comprehensive set of policies and procedures on environment, health and 
safety (“EHS”) and established an Environmental Health and Safety Committee. Formed by 
representatives from each department and specialized officers in health and safety, the committee 
monitors and implements internal inspections on our factories’ EHS performance, on every work 
level.

The Group Environmental Policy

The Group aims to improve corporate environment and build a green corporate culture

The Group shall implement clean production and sustainable use of resources

The following sections detail our efforts in monitoring and improving our environmental performance.

Air Emission

While air emission, such as volatile organic compounds from the spraying process and oil fume 
from the kitchen, is inevitably generated in our operation, we always strive to minimize any 
possible harmful air emission, by controlling the air pollutant levels and ensuring compliance 
with standards set by the local government. To cope with pollutions due to air emission, sufficient 
ventilations with activated carbon filters were installed to ensure pollutants are diluted with air 
before releasing to the environment; for the staff kitchen, oil mist separators were installed to 
minimize the oil fume emission.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Energy Consumption

Our major sources of greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions are from electricity usage and combustion 
of fossil fuels. We therefore focus on minimizing our carbon footprint, by conserving the use of 
energy in the operation.

The energy consumption is measured and recorded regularly, which is also useful for the Group to 
develop plans for improvement in energy efficiency, calculation of carbon emission and to adjust 
the management system appropriately to fit the condition of energy use. We also encourage green 
practices at the workplace, such as posting resource and energy saving signs around factories 
and offices, reminding employees to turn off electrical appliances when not in use and to keep 
the indoor temperatures at 25oC, etc.
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Waste Management

An essential part of minimizing impacts on the environment is proper waste management. This 
process goes both way – in terms of reducing waste production and also handling various types 
of waste appropriately. To achieve this objective, we have set up a standardized procedure for 
effective waste management, ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations:

To Our Customer

We see product quality as a priority in our daily operation. This is why starting from the procurement 
process to the final finishing of products, we put emphasis on quality assurance, to ensure the 
satisfaction of our customers.

The Group Quality Policy

The Group aims to produce quality products and deliver them on time to our customer

The Group shall achieve customer satisfaction through its continuous improvement 
policies

Procurement Management

As a toys and model trains manufacturing company, we believe our responsibility is not limited 
to the quality of the products, but to ensure they are safe for children, as well as not to create 
significant adverse impacts on the environment.

We always select our vendors and suppliers carefully, by following strict criteria of compliance 
and quality assurance, to maintain consistency in our product quality. Vendors with serious 
and repeated quality problem, or those who fail to provide the certificate of compliance, will be 
disqualified. In this way, only those that meet our quality standards will be selected as our vendors.

Sorting

Storing

Handling

• Classify into hazardous 
and non-hazardous 
waste. • Each type of  waste 

is stored in a specific 
area.

• Legal handler to collect 
hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
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Product Quality Assurance

Upholding excellence in our product quality has always been a priority. We see it as our responsibility 
to ensure the health and safety of our products through regular monitoring and assessment.

In our production, we always abide by our clients’ and the Group’s safety standards regarding toy 
products and all items undergo stringent quality control processes. Our excellent product quality 
can be well exemplified by the awards and certifications we have obtained, including ISO9001 for 
our quality management system, and participation of the Global Security Verification Program. 
These certificates highlight our commitment in promoting excellent product quality.

While we always strive to achieve excellence in our production, we are also well-prepared in 
case of any problems with our products. If it is discovered that our products may cause safety 
or health risk, we will recall the products and immediately stop any related production. We 
will also thoroughly investigate the cause and impact of the problems and promptly implement 
corresponding improvement plans, to avoid similar mistakes being made in the future.

RESPONSIBLE EMPLOYER

A core component of a company is its employees, without whom the company cannot operate. 
We strongly believe in the importance of creating values for our employees by providing them 
with a safe and fair working environment. Hence, it is our goal to have our employees grow and 
develop with the Group, to build a close-knit work family. We also value communication with 
our employees and encourage them to present recommendations and raise complaints through 
various channels.

Employment

We believe that our responsibility as an employer extends beyond mere compliance with related 
laws and regulations. While we comply with all local laws and regulations on working hours, 
salary, benefits and other employment matters, we strive to do more, give more, and achieve 
more with our employees.

Frequent social audits and social impact assessments were conducted in our factories from 
international brands and organizations. Our excellent social performance and fair labor practice 
have guaranteed to eliminate the chances of child labor, forced labor or any unethical treatment 
to our employees from happening within our production.

We value equal opportunity in our employment process and we are committed to promoting 
diversity and anti-discrimination at the workplace, because as an employer, we aspire to set 
examples for our employees and our peers in the industry. For example, we have installed facilities 
at our office to make it more user-friendly for disabled employees. Understanding the needs of 
our employees, we also provide dormitories for staff in need at our factories.
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Staff Development

We value our employee’s development and strive to provide them with training and opportunities, 
so that they can grow with the Group. All new staff is provided with orientation and training 
for them to understand our business operations and culture. In addition, various training was 
conducted over the year, such as recruitment process, ISO and ICTI, labor law and labor relations 
management. Each course focuses on a different aspect of the job nature and aims to provide 
an all-rounded training for our employees.

Through regular appraisals, we provide opportunities of promotion for our employees that meet 
the goals and objectives of the Group.

Occupational Health and Safety

We are committed to providing a safe working environment for our employees. To achieve this 
objective, we have a comprehensive set of EHS policies in place addressing various types of 
issues and situations, including procedures for waste disposals, air management, fire evacuation 
and production safety, and the EHS committee conducts internal inspections regularly to ensure 
proper management is implemented. Safety training and promotion are also provided to raise 
awareness in employees.

In case of any accidents or injuries of employees, our factories would follow procedures and 
investigate the factors and causes of the accidents, as well as formulate corresponding actions 
or improvement, in order to prevent similar incidents from happening in the future.

RESPONSIBLE CITIZEN

We are not only a company, but also a citizen in the community and society it operates in. Hence, 
not only do we have to fulfill our responsibilities internally to our employees and customers, but 
we also recognize the importance of upholding community values. As a responsible and ethical 
corporation, integrity is the foundation of sustainable business; therefore we aim to cultivate a 
corporate culture of integrity in dealing with its employees, suppliers and customers.

Prevention of Bribery

Complying with local regulations and laws, we prohibit any forms of fraud, bribery, extortion, 
and money laundering at the Group. Staff are not allowed to solicit or receive any gifts, rewards 
or advantages from business associates in relation to his/her work. There are also channels 
for employees to report any suspicious activities. In addition, all employees in Hong Kong must 
sign the Code of Integrity to ensure clear understanding of their responsibility for conducting 
business activities and the consequences of breaching the Code.
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Intellectual Property Rights

Understanding the importance of originality and integrity, we respect the value of intellectual 
property. Employees are not allowed to disclose or exploit any patents and trademarks regardless 
it is the Group’s own IP, or customers’ IP, and will subject to disciplinary action or dismissal for 
breach of the policy.

To ensure effective protection of IP rights at the Group, we have specifically appoints an IP 
manager to be responsible for safeguarding the Group’s IP. Our IP Manual also clearly defines 
the roles and responsibilities of each of our stakeholders, including employees in different 
positions, in regard to IP protection. We believe that through this extensive security system, 
IP rights are respected and recognized in our Group, fulfilling our responsibilities to both our 
business partners and other IP owners.

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

HKEX ESG  
Reporting Guide General Disclosures

Policies &  
Procedures

Explanation/ 
Reference section

 
   

Aspect A Environmental

A1 Emission Information on:

– the policies; and

– compliance and material non-
compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer relating to air 
and greenhouse gas emissions, 
discharges into water and land, 
generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes, etc.

EHS Handbook

Hazardous Waste  
 Management Plan

RESPONSIBLE PRODUCER  
– To the Environment

Wastewater is mainly  
generated domestic  
use, and hence, is not  
a significant issue.

A2 Use of Resource Policies on efficient use of resources  
including energy, water and other  
raw materials.

EHS Handbook RESPONSIBLE PRODUCER 
 – To the Environment
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HKEX ESG  
Reporting Guide General Disclosures

Policies &  
Procedures

Explanation/ 
Reference section

    

A3  The Environment 
and Natural 
Resources

Policies on minimizing the operation’s  
significant impact on the  
environment and natural resources.

EHS Handbook RESPONSIBLE PRODUCER 
 – To the Environment

Aspect B Social

B1 Employment Information on:

– the policies; and

– compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer relating to 
compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, 
working hours, rest periods, 
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits 
and welfare.

Employee Handbook RESPONSIBLE EMPLOYER  
– Employment

B2 Health and Safety Information on:

– the policies; and

– compliance and material non-
compliance with relevant 
standards, rules and regulations 
on providing a safe working 
environment and protecting 
employees from occupational 
hazards.

EHS Handbook RESPONSIBLE EMPLOYER  
–  Occupational Health and  

Safety

B3  Development and 
Training

Policies on improving employees’  
knowledge and skills for  
discharging duties at work.  
Description of training activities.

Training refers to vocational training. 
 It may include internal and  
external courses paid by  
the employer.

Employee Handbook RESPONSIBLE EMPLOYER  
– Staff Development
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HKEX ESG  
Reporting Guide General Disclosures

Policies &  
Procedures

Explanation/ 
Reference section

    

B4 Labor Standard Information on:

– the policies; and

– compliance and material non-
compliance with relevant 
standards, rules and regulations 
on preventing child or forced 
labor.

Employee Handbook RESPONSIBLE EMPLOYER  
– Employment

B5  Supply Chain 
Management

Policies on managing environmental  
and social risks of supply chain.

Procurement Procedures 

Vendor Control and  
Qualification  
Procedures

RESPONSIBLE PRODUCER  
– To Our Customer

B6  Product 
Responsibility

Information on:

– the policies; and

– compliance and material non-
compliance with relevant 
standards, rules and regulations 
on health and safety, advertising, 
labeling and privacy matters 
relating to products and services 
provided and methods of redress.

Product Monitoring  
Procedure 

IP Manual 

Product Recall  
Procedure

RESPONSIBLE PRODUCER  
– To Our Customer 

RESPONSIBLE CITIZEN  
–  Intellectual Property 

Rights

B7 Anti-corruption Information on:

– the policies; and

– compliance and material non-
compliance with relevant 
standards, rules and regulations 
on bribery, extortion, fraud and 
money laundering.

Employee Handbook 

Code of Integrity

RESPONSIBLE CITIZEN  
– Prevention of Bribery

B8  Community 
Investment

Policies on community engagement to 
understand the community’s needs 
where it operates and to ensure its 
activities take into consideration 
communities’ interests.

N/A We have donated backpacks  
and lunch-packs to the  
Hong Kong First Initiative  
Foundation in 2016.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of Kader Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kader Holdings Company Limited (“the 
Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 46 to 127, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and of its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) 
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 56.

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

At 31 December 2016 the Group held investment 
properties, which comprised an industrial building 
located in Hong Kong, with a fair value of HK$1,616 
million and which accounted for 69% of the Group’s 
total assets at that date.

The fair value of the investment properties at 31 
December 2016 was assessed by the directors 
primarily based on an independent valuation report 
prepared by a firm of qualified external property 
valuers.

The net change in fair value of investment properties 
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss represented 47% of the Group’s profit for the 
year ended 31 December 2016.

We identified the valuation of investment properties 
as a key audit matter because of the significance 
of investment properties to the Group’s total assets 
and the significance of the change in the fair value 
of investment properties to the Group’s profit for 
the year and because the valuation of investment 
properties can be inherently subjective and requires 
significant judgements and estimates, particularly 
in selecting the appropriate valuation methodology, 
capitalisation rates and market rents.

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of 
investment properties included the following:

• obtaining and inspecting the valuation report 
prepared by the external property valuers 
engaged by management and on which the 
directors’ assessment of the fair value of 
investment properties was based;

• assessing the external proper ty valuers’ 
qualifications, experience and expertise in 
the location and type of property subject to 
valuation and considering their objectivity 
and independence;

• with the assistance of our internal property 
valuation specialists, discussing with the 
external property valuers, without the presence 
of management, their valuation methodology 
with reference to the requirements of the 
prevailing accounting standards and challenging 
the key estimates and assumptions adopted in 
the valuation by comparing capitalisation rates, 
prevailing market rents and comparable market 
transactions with the available market data 
and by utilising the industry knowledge and 
experience of our internal property valuation 
specialists; and

• comparing tenancy information, including 
committed rents and occupancy rates, 
provided by the Group to the external property 
valuers with underlying contracts and related 
documentation, on a sample basis.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Potential impairment of property, plant and equipment in the toys and model trains segment

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 57.

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The carrying value of the Group’s property, plant 
and equipment amounted to HK$131 million at 31 
December 2016. The Group’s property, plant and 
equipment principally comprised land and buildings 
together with plant and equipment used in the toys 
and model trains segment of the Group.

Given the increasing pressure on sales prices and 
market competition in the toys and model trains 
sector, management considered that there is a risk 
that the carrying value of these assets may not be 
fully recoverable through future cash flows to be 
generated from operations or from their disposal 
and determined that an impairment assessment 
of these assets was required.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and 
equipment relating to the toys and model trains 
segment is determined by management at the 
higher of value in use and the fair value less 
costs of disposal of these assets. Management 
prepared a discounted cash flow forecast, taking 
into consideration subjective factors such as the 
discount rate, future revenue, future margins and 
future cost growth rates. The net present value 
of the cash flow forecast was compared with the 
carrying value of the cash generating unit (“CGU”) 
to which the relevant property, plant and equipment 
was allocated to determine whether any impairment 
loss should be recognised.

We identified the potential impairment of property, 
plant and equipment in the toys and model trains 
segment of the Group as a key audit matter 
because determining the level of impairment, if 
any, involves a significant degree of management 
judgement, particularly in forecasting future cash 
flows and in determining the discount rate applied 
in the impairment assessment, both of which 
are inherently uncertain and could be subject to 
management bias.

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment 
of property, plant and equipment in the toys and 
model trains segment included the following:

• evaluating management’s identification of the 
CGU which comprised the toys and model 
trains segment and the allocation of assets 
to that CGU;

• with the assistance of our internal valuation 
specialists, assessing the methodology adopted 
in the preparation of the discounted cash flow 
forecast by management, with reference to 
the requirements of the prevailing accounting 
standards, and whether the discount rate 
adopted in the discounted cash flow forecast 
was within the normal range of those of 
comparable entities;

• comparing the most significant inputs used in 
the discounted cash flow forecast, including 
future revenue, future margins and future cost 
growth rates to the historical performance of 
the CGU and publicly available industry reports, 
taking into account recent developments in 
the toys and model trains sector, the Group’s 
future business plans and the financial budget 
which was approved by the directors;

• comparing the relevant revenue and operating 
costs included in the discounted cash flow 
forecast prepared by management in the 
pr ior year with the current year ’s actual 
performance to assess the accuracy of the 
prior year’s forecast and making enquiries 
of management as to the reasons for any 
significant variations identified; and

• obtaining from management sensitivity analyses 
of both revenue and the discount rate and 
assessing the impact of changes in these key 
assumptions on the conclusions reached in 
the impairment assessment and whether there 
were any indicators of management bias.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT 
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the 
information included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements 
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Felix Kwo Hang Lee.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 3, 10 753,545 893,447

Other income 4 7,751 8,741

Changes in inventories of finished goods  
and work in progress (16,704) 28,626

Cost of purchase of finished goods (14,545) (26,142)
Raw materials and consumables used (179,755) (217,244)
Staff costs 5(b) (239,758) (294,529)
Depreciation 11 (31,640) (33,980)
Other operating expenses (176,527) (243,476)

  

Profit from operations 102,367 115,443
Finance costs 5(a) (9,557) (14,444)
Share of profits less losses of associates 14 12,376 4,205
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment of loans to 

an associate 5(c) (711) 1,566
Surplus on revaluation of investment properties 11 57,724 48,885

  

Profit before taxation 5 162,199 155,655
Income tax expense 6 (38,651) (29,132)

  

Profit for the year 123,548 126,523
  

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 122,905 124,339
Non-controlling interests 643 2,184

  

Profit for the year 123,548 126,523
  

Earnings per share 9
Basic 12.93¢ 13.08¢
Diluted 12.93¢ 13.08¢

  

The notes on pages 52 to 127 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends payable 
to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 25(b).
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2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year 123,548 126,523

Other comprehensive income for the year  
(after tax and reclassification adjustments)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently  
to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of financial 
statements of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong (21,084) 3,558

Available-for-sale securities:
– changes in fair value during the year 672 (372)
– reclassification adjustments for amounts 

transferred to profit or loss 4 – (35)
  

Total comprehensive income for the year 103,136 129,674
  

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 102,782 127,765
Non-controlling interests 354 1,909

  

Total comprehensive income for the year 103,136 129,674
  

The notes on pages 52 to 127 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
At 31 December 2016

At 
31 December 

2016

At 
31 December 

2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investment properties 11 1,616,473 1,558,749
Other property, plant and equipment 11 130,559 147,727

  

1,747,032 1,706,476

Intangible assets 12 1,679 1,548
Interest in associates 14 53,845 40,643
Non-current financial assets 15 8,608 4,036
Deferred tax assets 21(b) 9,985 8,836

  

1,821,149 1,761,539
  

Current assets
Inventories 16(a) 293,026 319,800
Current tax recoverable 21(a) – 281
Loans to an associate 14 22,556 27,678
Trade and other receivables 17 143,472 116,299
Cash and cash equivalents 18(a) 62,157 59,260

  

521,211 523,318
  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 140,164 136,938
Bank loans 20 329,585 329,405
Current tax payable 21(a) 41,792 28,115

  

511,541 494,458
  

Net current assets 9,670 28,860
  



KA
D

ER
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
C

O
M

PA
N

Y 
LI

M
IT

ED

49

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued) 
At 31 December 2016

At 
31 December 

2016

At 
31 December 

2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets less current liabilities 1,830,819 1,790,399
  

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 20 – 37,298
Deferred rental expenses 22 3,845 3,628
Rental deposits 23 2,720 8,558
Deferred tax liabilities 21(b) 21,770 23,155
Accrued employee benefits 24 251 302

  

28,586 72,941
  

NET ASSETS 1,802,233 1,717,458
  

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 25(c) 95,059 95,059
Reserves 1,710,477 1,621,954

  

Total equity attributable to equity  
shareholders of the Company 1,805,536 1,717,013

Non-controlling interests (3,303) 445
  

TOTAL EQUITY 1,802,233 1,717,458
  

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2017.

Kenneth Ting Woo-shou Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun
Director Director

The notes on pages 52 to 127 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
reserve

Contributed
surplus

Exchange
reserve

Land and 
buildings
revaluation

reserve
Fair value

reserve
Retained

profits Total

Non-
controlling

interest
Total

equity
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2015 95,059 185,138 10,815 173,397 (60,779) 62,667 (372) 1,123,323 1,589,248 362 1,589,610

Changes in equity for 2015:
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 124,339 124,339 2,184 126,523
Other comprehensive income – – – – 3,833 – (407) – 3,426 (275) 3,151

           

Total comprehensive income – – – – 3,833 – (407) 124,339 127,765 1,909 129,674
–---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –----------– –---------– –----------–   

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests – – – – – – – – – (1,826) (1,826)

–---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –----------– –---------– –----------–   

Balance at 31 December 2015 
and 1 January 2016 95,059 185,138 10,815 173,397 (56,946) 62,667 (779) 1,247,662 1,717,013 445 1,717,458

Changes in equity for 2016:
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 122,905 122,905 643 123,548
Other comprehensive income – – – – (20,795) – 672 – (20,123) (289) (20,412)

           

Total comprehensive income – – – – (20,795) – 672 122,905 102,782 354 103,136
–---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –----------– –---------– –----------–   

Dividends approved in respect 
of the previous year 25(b)(ii) – – – – – – – (14,259) (14,259) – (14,259)

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests – – – – – – – – – (4,102) (4,102)

–---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –---------– –----------– –---------– –----------–   

Balance at 31 December 2016 95,059 185,138 10,815 173,397 (77,741) 62,667 (107) 1,356,308 1,805,536 (3,303) 1,802,233
           

The notes on pages 52 to 127 form part of these financial statements.
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2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities
Cash generated from operations 18(b) 119,272 207,439
Tax paid:

Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (25,778) (2,102)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded – 7
Tax outside Hong Kong paid (541) (1,109)

  

Net cash generated from operating activities 92,953 204,235
  

Investing activities
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and 

equipment (21,653) (22,836)
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities – 2,586
Payment for purchase of available-for-sale securities (3,900) –
Payment for purchase of intangible assets (1,823) –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 59 544
Interest received 1,305 1,488
Increase in investment in an associate – (9,112)
Increase in amounts due from associates (826) (2,087)
Decrease/(increase) in loans to an associate 4,411 (3,389)

  

Net cash used in investing activities (22,427) (32,806)
  

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (4,102) (1,826)
Proceeds from new bank loans 406,234 408,783
Repayment of bank loans (443,095) (598,113)
Interest paid (9,557) (14,444)
Dividend paid to equity shareholders of the Company (14,259) –

  

Net cash used in financing activities (64,779) (205,600)
  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 5,747 (34,171)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 59,260 93,509

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (2,850) (78)
  

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 18(a) 62,157 59,260
  

The notes on page 52 to 127 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable 
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“HKICPA”) and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements 
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the 
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies adopted 
by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available 
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2 provides information 
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments 
to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods 
reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest 
in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical 
cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as 
explained in the accounting policies set out below:

– investment properties (see note 1(h));

– financial instruments classified as available-for-sale securities (see note 1(f)); and

– derivative financial instruments (see note 1(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making 
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have a significant 
effect on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed 
in note 31.

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the 
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from 
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, 
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses 
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains 
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or 
indirectly to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional 
terms with the holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having 
a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial 
liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling 
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the 
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 
within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. 
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive 
income for the year between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the 
Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of 
controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in 
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire 
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any 
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at 
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial 
asset (see note 1(f)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment 
in an associate (see note 1(d)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an interest in a subsidiary is stated at cost 
less any impairment losses (see note 1(l)(ii)).

(d) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or 
joint control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating 
policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under 
the equity method. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, 
adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair value of the investee’s 
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is 
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets 
and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see note 1(l)(ii)). Any acquisition-date 
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees 
and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax items of the investees’ 
other comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s interest 
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that 
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment 
under the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form 
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates 
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised 
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, retained interest 
is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity 
method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Associates (Continued)

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, 
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain 
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the 
date when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded 
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates are stated at 
cost less impairment losses (see note 1(l)(ii)).

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the 
acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as 
a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business 
combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash-generating units, 
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested annually for 
impairment (see note 1(l)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased 
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other 
than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated at fair value, which is their 
transaction price unless it is determined that the fair value at initial recognition differs from 
the transaction price and that fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market 
for an identical asset or liability or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from 
observable markets. Cost includes attributable transaction costs. These investments are 
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification:
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)

Other investments in securities are classified as available-for-sale securities. At the end of 
each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being 
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in 
equity in the fair value reserve. As an exception to this, investments in equity securities that 
do not have a quoted price in an active market for an identical instrument and whose fair value 
cannot otherwise be reliably measured are recognised in the statement of financial position 
at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(l)(i)). Dividend income from equity securities is 
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income from debt securities calculated using the effective 
interest method is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the policy set out in note 
1(u)(iii). Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from changes in the amortised cost 
of debt securities are also recognised in profit or loss.

When the investments are derecognised or impaired (see note 1(l)(i)), the cumulative gain 
or loss recognised in equity is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

(g) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. At the end of each 
reporting period the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair 
value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(h) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or held under a leasehold 
interest (see note 1(k)) to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include 
land held for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being constructed or 
developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value unless they are still in the course of construction 
or development at the end of the reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably 
determined at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the 
retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income 
from investment properties is accounted for as described in note 1(u)(ii).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease to earn rental income 
and/or for capital appreciation, the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment 
property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which has been classified 
as an investment property is accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see 
note 1(k)), and the same accounting policies are applied to that interest as are applied to 
other investment properties leased under finance leases. Lease payments are accounted 
for as described in note 1(k).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(l)(ii)):

– land and buildings held for own use; and

– other items of plant and equipment.

If land and buildings held for own use becomes an investment property because its use has 
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying 
amount and the fair value of that item at that date of transfer is recognised in profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income and accumulated in land and buildings revaluation 
reserve. On subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will 
be transferred directly to retained profits.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement 
or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to 
retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of items of property, plant and 
equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over 
their estimated useful lives as follows:

(i) Land and buildings held for own use are depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.

(ii) Freehold land is not depreciated.

(iii) Other items of plant and equipment are at the following rates:

Plant and machinery 20% to 25% per annum
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 25% per annum
Moulds and tools 10% to 30% per annum
Motor vehicles and pleasure craft 30% per annum

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost 
or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part 
is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are 
reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated in the statement of financial 
position at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite) and 
impairment losses (see note 1(l)(ii)). Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives 
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives.

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are 
available for use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

– Club memberships 20 years

– Licensing rights 3 to 5 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

(k) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease 
if the Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or 
assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a 
determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is 
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. 
Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
Group are classified as operating leases, with the following exceptions:

– property held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition of an 
investment property is classified as investment property on a property-by-property 
basis and, if classified as investment property, is accounted for as if held under 
a finance lease (see note 1(i)); and

– land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value of which cannot 
be measured separately from the fair value of building situated thereon at the 
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless 
the building is also clearly held under an operating lease. For these purposes, 
the inception of the lease is the time that the lease was first entered into by the 
Group or taken over from the previous lessee.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)

(ii) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts 
representing the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, of such assets are included in property, plant and equipment 
and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under 
finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the cost or valuation of 
the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will obtain 
ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 1(i). Impairment losses 
are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note 1(l)(ii). 
Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the 
period of the leases so as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge 
on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period. Contingent 
rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

(iii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating leases, payments made under 
the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods 
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of 
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received 
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments 
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which 
they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease term except where the property is classified as an 
investment property (see note 1(h)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(l) Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other current and non-current receivables 
that are stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale securities 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective 
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data 
that come to the attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 
that have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

– a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity 
instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows:

– For interest in associates (accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated 
financial statements (see note 1(d)), the impairment loss is measured by comparing 
the recoverable amount of the investment as a whole with its carrying amount in 
accordance with note 1(l)(ii). The impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount in 
accordance with note 1(l)(ii).

– For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment loss is measured 
as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for 
a similar financial asset where the effect of discounting is material. Impairment 
losses for equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(l) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables (Continued)

– For trade and other current receivables and other financial assets carried at 
amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition of the asset), where the effect of 
discounting is material. The assessment is made collectively where these financial 
assets share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status and 
have not been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial 
assets which are assessed for impairment collectively are based on historical loss 
experience for assets with credit risk characteristic similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal 
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding 
that which would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
in prior years.

– For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that has been recognised in 
the fair value reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the cumulative 
loss that is recognised in profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition 
cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity 
securities are not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the 
fair value of such assets is recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt securities are reversed if the 
subsequent increase in fair value can be objectively related to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised. Reversals of impairment losses in such 
circumstances are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(l) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except for 
impairment losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and bills receivable included 
within trade and other receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. 
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance 
account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered 
irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors and bills receivable directly and any 
amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against 
the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in 
the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may 
have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment (other than investment properties carried at revalued 
amounts);

– construction in progress;

– intangible assets;

– goodwill; and

– interest in subsidiaries and associates in the Company’s statement of financial 
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, 
for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet available for use and intangible assets 
that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether 
or not there is any indication of impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(l) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

– Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those 
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group 
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

– Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, 
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit 
(or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in 
the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of 
an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal 
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

– Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses 
are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(l) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an interim financial report 
in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six 
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the 
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the 
financial year (see notes 1(l)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill, available-for-
sale equity securities and unquoted equity securities carried at cost are not reversed 
in a subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have 
been recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial 
year to which the interim period relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an available-
for-sale equity security increases in the remainder of the annual period, or in any other 
period subsequently, the increase is recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income and not profit or loss.

(m) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out method and comprises all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as 
an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any 
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised 
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(n) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful 
debts (see note 1(l)(i)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related 
parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. 
In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment of doubtful debts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised 
cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption value being 
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any interest and 
fees payable, using the effective interest method.

(p) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at 
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are 
stated at cost.

(q) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks 
and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management 
are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
consolidated cash flow statement.

(r) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution 
retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which 
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is 
deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their present 
values.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs involving 
the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised 
in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts 
of tax are recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to 
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences 
respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from 
unused tax losses.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities and all deferred tax assets, 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition 
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will 
arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences 
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to 
reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary 
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be 
carried forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable 
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax 
losses, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation 
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, 
in which the tax loss can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary 
differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of 
assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not 
part of a business combination), and temporary differences relating to interest in subsidiaries 
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the 
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or 
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in accordance with the accounting 
policy set out in note 1(h), the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax 
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date 
unless the property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to 
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time, rather 
than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured 
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the 
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at end of each reporting period 
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will 
be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to 
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when 
the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented 
separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current 
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or 
the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either 
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; 
or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts 
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend 
to realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis 
or realise and settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make 
specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a 
loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in 
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee is initially 
recognised as deferred income within trade and other payables. The fair value of financial 
guarantees issued at the time of issuance is determined by reference to fees charged 
in an arm’s length transaction for similar services, when such information is obtainable, 
or is otherwise estimated by reference to interest rate differentials, by comparing the 
actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is made available with the estimated 
rates that lenders would have charged, had the guarantees not been available, where 
reliable estimates of such information can be made. Where consideration is received 
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in 
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no 
such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in 
profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income is amortised in 
profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. 
In addition, provisions are recognised in accordance with note 1(t)(ii) if and when (i) it 
becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the 
guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to exceed the 
amount currently carried in trade and other payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. 
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

(ii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the 
Group or the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money 
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to 
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of 
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided 
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, 
if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’ premises which is 
taken to be the point in time when the customer has accepted the goods and the related 
risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes 
and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

(ii) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal 
instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative 
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the 
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral 
part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised 
as income in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(iii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(iv) Air-conditioning, management and maintenance service charges from tenants

Air-conditioning, management and maintenance service charges from tenants is recognised 
when the related services are rendered.

(v) Material charges

Material charges are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates 
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting 
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair 
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was 
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates 
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statements 
of financial position items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign operations, 
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of 
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences 
relating to that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit 
or loss on disposal is recognised.

(w) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use 
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed 
in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences 
when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and 
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. 
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities 
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or 
complete.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that 
person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others.)

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate 
of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected 
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.



KA
D

ER
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
C

O
M

PA
N

Y 
LI

M
IT

ED

72

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial 
statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most 
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the 
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes 
unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of 
the nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class 
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the 
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material 
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current 
accounting period of the Group. None of these developments have had a material effect on how 
the Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or 
presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the 
current accounting period.

3. REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of plastic, electronic and stuffed 
toys and model trains, property investment and investment holding.

Revenue represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers and rental income during the 
year. The amount of each significant category of revenue is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of goods 702,680 845,453
Gross rentals from investment properties 50,865 47,994

  

753,545 893,447
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

3. REVENUE (Continued)

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes one (2015: one) customer with whom 
transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. In 2016, revenue from sales of toys and 
model trains to this customer (2015: one), including sales to entities which are known to the Group 
to be under common control of this customer, amounted to approximately HK$364,852,000 (2015: 
HK$425,275,000) and arose in the North America (2015: North America) geographical region in 
which the toys and model trains division is active. Details of concentrations of credit risk arising 
from this customer are set out in note 26(a).

Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 10 to these financial 
statements.

4. OTHER INCOME

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income from loans to an associate 1,159 1,153
Interest income from available-for-sale debt securities 73 121
Other interest income 73 214

  

1,305 1,488
Air conditioning, management and maintenance service 

charges from tenants 6,149 6,612
Material charges 1,821 627
Written back of trade and other payables – 3,369
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (211) 154
Net exchange loss (4,280) (7,890)
Available-for-sale equity securities: reclassified from equity 

on disposal – 35
Others 2,967 4,346

  

7,751 8,741
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

5. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Finance costs

Interest on bank loans and other borrowings 9,557 14,444
  

(b) Staff costs

Salaries, wages and other benefits 221,685 273,633
Employer’s contributions to defined contribution 

retirement plans, net of forfeited contributions of 
HK$2,000 (2015: HK$99,000) 18,073 20,896

  

239,758 294,529
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

5. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

(c) Other items

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) 1,475 980
  

Depreciation (note 11)
– owned assets 31,640 33,980

  

Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses)
– property, plant and equipment (note 11) 428 48,601
– trade receivables (note 17(b)) 1,969 305
– loans to an associate 711 (1,566)

  

3,108 47,340
  

Operating lease charges
– rental of land and buildings 21,179 24,960
– other rentals 72 75

  

21,251 25,035
  

Auditors’ remuneration
– audit services 4,046 4,094
– tax services 666 426

  

4,712 4,520
  

Cost of inventories (note 16(b)) 450,055 560,494
  

Rental receivable from investment properties less direct 
outgoings of HK$3,762,000 (2015: HK$3,329,000) (47,103) (44,665)

  

Cost of inventories includes HK$151,739,000 (2015: HK$247,908,000) relating to staff costs, 
depreciation charges, impairment loss in respect of property, plant and equipment and operating 
lease charges, which amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately 
above and in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for each of these types of expenses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

6. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax – Hong Kong Profits Tax
Provision for the year 27,975 10,740
Over-provision in respect of prior years (2,045) (10)

  

25,930 10,730
________ ________

Current tax – Outside Hong Kong
Provision for the year 14,986 16,427
Under-provision in respect of prior years 269 11

________ ________

15,255 16,438
________ ________

Deferred tax (note 21(b))
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,534) 1,964

======= =======

38,651 29,132
======= =======

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2016 is calculated at 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) of the 
estimated assessable profits for the year.

The Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) rate applicable to subsidiaries registered in the People’s 
Republic of China (“PRC”) is 25% (2015: 25%).

Taxation for other subsidiaries outside Hong Kong is charged at the appropriate current rates 
of taxation ruling in the relevant jurisdictions.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the British Government announced a reduction in 
the corporation tax rate applicable to the Group’s operations in the United Kingdom (the “UK”) 
from 20.25% to 20% (2015: 21.5% to 20.25%). The reduction has been taken into account in 
the preparation of the Group’s financial statements. Accordingly, the deferred tax balances 
related to the Group’s operations in the UK as at 31 December 2016 were calculated using 
a tax rate of 20% (2015: 20.25%).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

6. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 162,199 155,655
======= =======

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at 
the rates applicable to profits in the jurisdictions 
concerned 17,834 30,506

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 33,521 5,046
Tax effect of non-taxable income (11,605) (11,503)
Tax effect of previously unrecognised tax losses 

utilised (228) (1,528)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 905 6,610
(Over)/under-provision in prior years (1,776) 1

  

Actual tax expense 38,651 29,132
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation 
are as follows:

2016

Directors’  
fees

Salaries,  
allowances  

and benefits  
in kind

Discretionary  
bonuses

Retirement  
scheme  

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors:
Kenneth Ting Woo-shou 100 2,040 – 204 2,344
Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun 78 – – – 78

Non-executive directors:
Ivan Ting Tien-li 70 – – – 70
Moses Cheng Mo-chi 70 – – – 70
Bernie Ting Wai-cheung 80 – – – 80
Liu Chee-ming  

(Retired on 2 June 2016) 29 – – – 29

Independent non-executive 
directors:
Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin 120 – – – 120
Andrew Yao Cho-fai 120 – – – 120
Desmond Chum Kwan-yue 120 – – – 120
Ronald Montalto 90 – – – 90

     

877 2,040 – 204 3,121
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

2015

Directors’  
fees

Salaries,  
allowances  

and benefits  
in kind

Discretionary  
bonuses

Retirement  
scheme  

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors:
Kenneth Ting Woo-shou 90 2,040 – 204 2,334
Nancy Ting Wang Wan-sun 60 – – – 60

Non-executive directors:
Ivan Ting Tien-li 60 – – – 60
Moses Cheng Mo-chi 60 – – – 60
Bernie Ting Wai-cheung 70 – – – 70
Liu Chee-ming 60 – – – 60

Independent non-executive 
directors:
Floyd Chan Tsoi-yin 110 – – – 110
Andrew Yao Cho-fai 100 – – – 100
Desmond Chum Kwan-yue 110 – – – 110
Ronald Montalto 80 – – – 80

     

800 2,040 – 204 3,044
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

8. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2015: one) is a director whose emolument 
is set out in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other four (2015: four) 
individuals are as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other emoluments 7,456 6,692
Retirement scheme contributions 36 327

  

7,492 7,019
  

The emoluments of the four (2015: four) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the 
following bands:

2016 2015
Number of  
employees

Number of  
employees

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 – 3
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 –
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1 –

  

9. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary 
equity shareholders of the Company of HK$122,905,000 (2015: HK$124,339,000) and the 
weighted average of 950,588,000 ordinary shares (2015: 950,588,000 ordinary shares) in 
issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share

The Company did not have dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during both 2016 
and 2015. Accordingly, the diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings per 
share for both 2016 and 2015.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

10. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by business lines. In a 
manner consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s most 
senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, 
the Group has identified the following three reportable segments. No operating segments have 
been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

Toys and model trains: The manufacture and sale of plastic, electronic and stuffed toys 
and model trains. These products are manufactured in the Group’s 
manufacturing facilities located in Mainland China.

Property investment: The leasing of office premises and industrial building to generate rental 
income and to gain from the appreciation in the properties’ value in 
the long term.

Investment holding: The investment in securities.

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between 
segments, the Group’s senior executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities 
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and current assets with the exception of intangible 
assets, interests in associates, other non-current financial assets, deferred tax assets, current 
tax recoverable, cash and cash equivalents and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities 
include all liabilities with the exception of current tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and 
other corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales 
generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise 
arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded as including 
investment income and “depreciation and amortisation” is regarded as including impairment 
losses on non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings are further 
adjusted for items not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as share of profits 
less losses of associates and other head office or corporate administration costs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted EBITDA, management 
is provided with segment information concerning revenue (including inter segment sales), 
interest income and expense from cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the 
segments, depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses and additions to non-current 
segment assets used by the segments in their operations. Inter-segment sales are priced 
with reference to prices charged to external parties for similar orders.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s most 
senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of 
segment performance for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 is set out below:

Toys and  
model trains

Property  
investment

Investment  
holding Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 702,680 845,453 50,865 47,994 – – 753,545 893,447
Inter-segment revenue – – 1,195 1,218 – – 1,195 1,218

        

Reportable segment revenue 702,680 845,453 52,060 49,212 – – 754,740 894,665
        

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 
(adjusted EBITDA) 87,484 117,123 43,978 41,335 (3,104) (16,214) 128,358 142,244

Interest income 73 214 – – 1,232 1,274 1,305 1,488

Interest expenses (9,557) (14,444) – – – – (9,557) (14,444)

Depreciation and amortisation for 
the year (33,048) (33,120) (9) (1,773) (58) (67) (33,115) (34,960)

Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment (356) (47,933) (72) (668) – – (428) (48,601)

Reportable segment assets 546,229 616,664 1,616,773 1,558,785 309,179 335,871 2,472,181 2,511,320

Additions to non-current segment 
assets during the year 23,476 22,836 – – – – 23,476 22,836

Reportable segment liabilities 737,202 858,769 23,563 21,705 4,337 4,000 765,102 884,474
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue 754,740 894,665
Elimination of inter-segment revenue (1,195) (1,218)

  

Consolidated revenue (note 3) 753,545 893,447
  

Profit
Reportable segment profit 128,358 142,244
Elimination of inter-segment profit – –

  

Reportable segment profit derived from the Group’s 
external customers 128,358 142,244

Other income 7,751 8,741
Depreciation and amortisation (33,115) (34,960)
Finance costs (9,557) (14,444)
Share of profits less losses of associates 12,376 4,205
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment of loans to an 

associate (711) 1,566
Surplus on revaluation of investment properties 57,724 48,885
Unallocated head office corporate expenses (627) (582)

  

Consolidated profit before taxation 162,199 155,655
  

Assets
Reportable segment assets 2,472,181 2,511,320
Elimination of inter-segment receivables (288,652) (368,746)

  

2,183,529 2,142,574
Intangible assets 1,679 1,548
Interest in associates 53,845 40,643
Loans to an associate 22,556 27,678
Non-current financial assets 8,608 4,036
Deferred tax assets 9,985 8,836
Current tax recoverable – 281
Cash and cash equivalents 62,157 59,260
Unallocated head office and corporate assets 1 1

  

Consolidated total assets 2,342,360 2,284,857
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities 
(Continued)

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities 765,102 884,474
Elimination of inter-segment payables (288,652) (368,746)

  

476,450 515,728

Current tax payable 41,792 28,115
Deferred tax liabilities 21,770 23,155
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 115 401

  

Consolidated total liabilities 540,127 567,399
  

(c) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s 
revenue from external customers and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets and interest in associates (“specified non-current assets”). The geographical location 
of customers is based on the location at which the services were provided or the goods 
delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-current assets is based on the 
physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment, the location of 
the operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets and the location 
of operations, in the case of interest in associates.

Revenue from  
external customers

Specified  
non-current assets

2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong (place of domicile) 57,476 56,914 1,664,578 1,552,170

Mainland China 8,022 9,457 30,377 101,174
North America 525,958 613,060 85,353 69,120
Europe 159,059 189,602 22,248 26,203
Others 3,030 24,414 – –

696,069 836,533 137,978 196,497

753,545 893,447 1,802,556 1,748,667
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and buildings  
held for own use  

carried at cost

Other items  
of plant and  
equipment

Investment  
properties

In  
Hong Kong

Outside  
Hong Kong Sub-total

In 
Hong Kong Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost or valuation:
At 1 January 2015 32,431 37,753 749,112 819,296 1,548,579 2,367,875
Exchange adjustments – (901) (5,784) (6,685) – (6,685)
Transfer from construction in 

progress – – 185 185 – 185
Additions – 435 22,401 22,836 – 22,836
Reclassification 38,715 – – 38,715 (38,715) –
Disposals – – (4,200) (4,200) – (4,200)
Surplus on revaluation – – – – 48,885 48,885

      

At 31 December 2015 71,146 37,287 761,714 870,147 1,558,749 2,428,896
      

Representing
Cost 71,146 37,287 761,714 870,147 – 870,147
Valuation – 2015 – – – – 1,558,749 1,558,749

      

71,146 37,287 761,714 870,147 1,558,749 2,428,896
      

At 1 January 2016 71,146 37,287 761,714 870,147 1,558,749 2,428,896
Exchange adjustments – (3,409) (12,247) (15,656) – (15,656)
Additions – 1,567 20,086 21,653 – 21,653
Disposals – – (18,113) (18,113) – (18,113)
Surplus on revaluation – – – – 57,724 57,724

      

At 31 December 2016 71,146 35,445 751,440 858,031 1,616,473 2,474,504
      

Representing
Cost 71,146 35,445 751,440 858,031 – 858,031
Valuation – 2016 – – – – 1,616,473 1,616,473

      

71,146 35,445 751,440 858,031 1,616,473 2,474,504
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

Land and buildings  
held for own use  

carried at cost

Other items  
of plant and  
equipment

Investment  
properties

In  
Hong Kong

Outside  
Hong Kong Sub-total

In 
Hong Kong Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment:

At 1 January 2015 8,420 19,981 619,289 647,690 – 647,690
Exchange adjustments – (437) (3,604) (4,041) – (4,041)
Charge for the year (note 5(c)) 1,950 694 31,336 33,980 – 33,980
Impairment loss (note 5(c)) – – 48,601 48,601 – 48,601
Written back on disposals – – (3,810) (3,810) – (3,810)

      

At 31 December 2015 10,370 20,238 691,812 722,420 – 722,420
      

At 1 January 2016 10,370 20,238 691,812 722,420 – 722,420
Exchange adjustments – (1,676) (7,497) (9,173) – (9,173)
Charge for the year (note 5(c)) 1,951 710 28,979 31,640 – 31,640
Impairment loss (note 5(c)) – – 428 428 – 428
Written back on disposals – – (17,843) (17,843) – (17,843)

      

At 31 December 2016 12,321 19,272 695,879 727,472 – 727,472
      

Net book value:
At 31 December 2016 58,825 16,173 55,561 130,559 1,616,473 1,747,032

      

At 31 December 2015 60,776 17,049 69,902 147,727 1,558,749 1,706,476
      

(a) Write-off of property, plant and equipment

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of 
the Group’s moulds and equipment and as a result, an impairment loss of HK$428,000 (2015: 
HK$48,601,000) was recognised to write down the carrying amount of certain moulds and 
equipment to their recoverable amount. The estimates of recoverable amount were based on 
the moulds’ and equipment’s value in use, determined by reference to anticipated future use.

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Medium term leases at valuation:
– In Hong Kong 1,616,473 1,558,749

  

(i) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s properties measured at the 
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair 
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which 
a fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability 
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

• Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement 
date

• Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable 
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. 
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available

• Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Fair value as  
at 31 December  

2016

Fair value measurements as at  
31 December 2016 categorised into

 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value 
measurements

Investment properties:
– Industrial – Hong Kong 1,616,473 – – 1,616,473

Fair value as  
at 31 December  

2015 

Fair value measurements as at 
31 December 2015 categorised into

 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value 
measurements

Investment properties:
– Industrial – Hong Kong 1,558,749 – – 1,558,749

During the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: HK$Nil), there were no transfers 
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 (2015: HK$Nil). The 
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the 
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2016. The 
valuations were carried out by an independent firm of surveyors, DTZ Cushman & 
Wakefield Limited, who have among their staff Fellows of the Hong Kong Institute of 
Surveyors with recent experience in the location and category of property being valued. 
The management have discussion with the surveyors on the valuation assumptions 
and valuation results when the valuation is performed at each annual reporting date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation  
techniques Unobservable inputs Range

Weighted  
average

Investment properties  
– Industrial – Hong Kong

Income 
capitalisation 
approach

Market rental value HK$11.2 to  
HK$12.2/sq.  

foot/month

HK$11.6/sq.  
foot/month 

Capitalisation rate 3.6% 3.6%

Investment properties  
– Industrial – Hong Kong

Direct  
comparison 
approach

Premium (discount) 
on quality of the 
buildings

0% 0%

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong is determined on an open 
market value basis, by either making reference to the comparable sales evidence in the 
relevant locality, or otherwise, by capitalising the current rent derived from the existing 
tenancies with the provision for any reversionary income potential.

The capitalisation rate used in income capitalisation approach has been adjusted for 
the expected market rental growth, occupancy rate and quality and location of the 
buildings. The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the market rental value 
and negatively correlated to the risk-adjusted capitalisation rate.

The premium or discount used in direct comparison approach is specific to the building 
compared to the recent sales. High premium for higher quality buildings will result in a 
high fair value measurement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair value measurements 
are as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties – Industrial – Hong Kong:

At 1 January 1,558,749 1,548,579
Reclassification to land and buildings  

held for own use – (38,715)
Fair value adjustment 57,724 48,885

  

At 31 December 1,616,473 1,558,749
  

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in the line item “surplus 
on revaluation of investment properties” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

All the gains recognised in profit and loss for the year arose from the properties held 
at the end of the reporting period.

(c) The analysis of net book value of other properties is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Medium-term leases in Hong Kong 58,825 60,776
Freehold outside Hong Kong 16,173 17,049

  

74,998 77,825
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(d) Assets leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases. The leases typically run 
for an initial period of two to three years. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

The carrying amount of the investment properties of the Group held for use in operating 
leases was HK$1,616,473,000 (2015: HK$1,558,749,000). All properties held under operating 
leases that would otherwise meet the definition of investment property are classified as 
investment properties.

Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are receivable 
as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 39,803 38,723
After 1 year but within 5 years 15,581 5,663

  

55,384 44,386
  

(e) Secured assets

Investment properties and land and buildings of the Group with total carrying values of 
HK$1,616,473,000 (2015: HK$1,558,749,000) and HK$74,998,000 (2015: HK$77,825,000) 
respectively, were pledged to various banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group 
(see note 20).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Licensing  
rights

Club  
membership Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2015 4,956 868 5,824
Exchange adjustments (221) – (221)

   

At 31 December 2015 4,735 868 5,603
   

At 1 January 2016 4,735 868 5,603
Exchange adjustments (991) – (991)
Additions 1,823 – 1,823

   

At 31 December 2016 5,567 868 6,435
   

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 2015 2,894 335 3,229
Exchange adjustments (154) – (154)
Charge for the year 947 33 980

   

At 31 December 2015 3,687 368 4,055
   

At 1 January 2016 3,687 368 4,055
Exchange adjustments (774) – (774)
Charge for the year 1,441 34 1,475

   

At 31 December 2016 4,354 402 4,756
   

Net book value:
At 31 December 2016 1,213 466 1,679

   

At 31 December 2015 1,048 500 1,548
   

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “other operating expenses” in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

13. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, 
assets, or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Name of company Place of operation

Place of 
incorporation/ 
establishment

Particulars of issued   
and paid up capital  
(all being ordinary  
shares except where 
otherwise stated)

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

held by

Principal  
activity

 

The 
Company

A 
subsidiary

Bachmann Asia Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 2 shares – 100% Agent for sale of toys

Bachmann (China) Limited The People’s 
Republic of China 
(“PRC”)

Hong Kong 10,000 shares – 100% Trading of toys

Bachmann Trading (Shanghai) 
Limited

PRC PRC Registered capital 
RMB500,000

– 100% Trading of toys

Bachmann Europe Plc United Kingdom 
(“UK”)

UK 2,050,000 shares of 
£1 each

100% – Trading of toys

Bachmann Industries, Inc. United States of 
America (“USA”)

USA 4,010,100 shares of 
US$1 each

– 100% Trading of toys

Deltahill Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100 shares and 
1,001,000 non-
voting deferred 
shares

– 100% Provision of 
management 
services

Dongguan Feng Da Electronics 
Company Limited (Note 1)

PRC PRC Registered capital 
HK$8,000,000

– 100% Manufacture of toys

Globe Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands 
(“BVI”)

BVI 1 share of US$1 100% – Investment holding

Kader Industrial Company  
Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong 412,532,000 shares 100% – Manufacture and 
trading of toys, and 
property investment

K Cellars (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 1,000 shares – 100% Sub-letting of wine 
cellar
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Name of company Place of operation

Place of 
incorporation/ 
establishment

Particulars of issued   
and paid up capital  
(all being ordinary  
shares except where 
otherwise stated)

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

held by

Principal  
activity

 

The 
Company

A 
subsidiary

Precise Moulds (Dongguan) 
Company Limited (Hop Pong) 
(Note 2)

PRC PRC Registered capital 
RMB$4,800,000

– 52% Manufacture and sale 
of moulds

Sanda Kan (Cayman III)  
Holdings Company Limited

Cayman Island Cayman Island 1,000,000 shares of 
US$0.01 each

100% – Investment holding

Sanda Kan (Mauritius) Holdings 
Company Limited

The Republic of 
Mauritius

The Republic of 
Mauritius

100 shares of 
US$0.01 each

– 100% Investment holding

Technic International  
Development Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong 1 share – 100% Investment holding

Notes:

1. These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises registered in the PRC.

2. These companies are co-operative joint ventures registered in PRC.

13. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

14. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES AND LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Share of net assets 14,069 1,693
Amounts due from associates 39,776 43,354
Less: impairment loss – (4,404)

  

53,845 40,643
  

Current assets
Loans to an associate 23,715 28,126
Less: impairment loss (1,159) (448)

  

22,556 27,678
  

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. 
The Group does not intend to seek repayment thereof within 12 months of the end of the reporting 
period.

At 31 December 2016, loans to an associate amounting to HK$12,090,000 (2015: HK$17,550,000) 
are unsecured, interest-bearing at 5% to 10% per annum and are repayable on 31 May 2017 (2015: 
30 April 2016 or 31 May 2016). Interest receivable amounted to HK$5,385,000 (2015: HK$4,336,000) 
as at 31 December 2016. Loans to an associate of HK$6,240,000 (2015: HK$6,240,000) are 
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

14. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES AND LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The following list contains the particulars of associates, all of which are unlisted corporate entities 
whose quoted market price is not available.

Proportion of  
ownership interest

Name of associate

Form of  
business 
structure

Place of 
incorporation  
and business

Particulars of  
issued and 
paid up capital

Group’s  
effective  
interest

Held  
by a  

subsidiary

Held  
by an  

associate Principal activity

Allman Holdings Limited Incorporated BVI 1,440 shares of 
US$1 each

36.1% 36.1% – Investment holding

Pacific Squaw Creek Inc. Incorporated USA 1,000 shares of 
US$1 each

36.1% – 100.0% Investment holding

Redwood Ventures Limited Incorporated Hong Kong 3,101,000 
shares

40.0% 40.0% – Trading of toys

Squaw Creek Associates, 
LLC (“SCA”)

Limited liability 
company

USA Note 37.4% 15.0% 62.0% Resort operation, 
and the sale and 
management of 
condominium 
apartments

Note: SCA does not have issued share capital, the interest in SCA represents the interest in capital account 

balance.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial 
statements and considered not to be individually material.

Summary financial information on associates

 Assets Liabilities Equity Revenue Profit
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2016
Group’s effective interest 274,176 (189,899) 84,277 164,982 12,376

2015
Group’s effective interest 277,197 (207,885) 69,312 138,555 4,205
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

15. NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Available-for-sale equity securities:
– Listed in Hong Kong 2,560 2,148
– Listed outside Hong Kong 1,412 1,046
– Unlisted outside Hong Kong 3,807 –

  

7,779 3,194
Available-for-sale debt securities:

– Listed in Hong Kong 829 842
  

8,608 4,036
  

16. INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 23,848 18,865
Work in progress 28,276 30,659
Finished goods 240,902 270,276

  

293,026 319,800
  

Finished goods amounting to HK$104,057,000 (2015: HK$117,537,000) were pledged to banks 
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (see note 20).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

16. INVENTORIES (Continued)

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in 
profit or loss is as follows (note 5(c)):

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount of inventories sold 446,652 567,258
Write down of inventories 7,936 2,282
Reversal of write-down of inventories (4,533) (9,046)

  

450,055 560,494
  

The reversal of write-down of inventories made in current and prior years arose upon sale 
of these inventories.

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade debtors 124,479 103,031
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (note 17(b)) (8,886) (6,987)

  

115,593 96,044

Amount due from an associate 1,399 –
Amounts due from related companies 1,515 1,123
Deposits and prepayments 24,965 19,132

  

143,472 116,299
  

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense 
within one year.

Amount due from an associate is trade-related, unsecured, interest-free and due within 60 days 
from the date of billing.

Amounts due from related companies are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of 
repayment. The related companies have a common director and shareholder with the Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a) Ageing analysis

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors (which are included 
in trade and other receivables), based on the invoice date and net of allowance for doubtful 
debts, is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 month 78,302 83,276
1 to 3 months 32,439 9,914
3 to 12 months 3,240 2,575
Over 12 months 1,612 279

  

115,593 96,044
  

Trade debtors are due within 90 days from the date of billing. Further details on the Group’s 
credit policy are set out in note 26(a).

(b) Impairment of trade debtors

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors are recorded using an allowance account unless 
the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment 
loss is written off against trade debtors directly (see note 1(l)(i)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year, including both specific 
and collective loss components, is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 6,987 16,351
Exchange adjustments (12) (4)
Impairment losses (note 5(c)) 1,969 305
Reversal of impairment losses (58) (1,801)
Uncollectible amounts written off – (7,864)

  

At 31 December 8,886 6,987
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade debtors (Continued)

At 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’s trade debtors totalling HK$8,886,000 (2015: 
HK$6,987,000) were individually determined to be impaired. The individually impaired 
receivables related to customers with which the Group no longer conducts business and 
management assessed that these receivables are not recoverable. Consequently, specific 
allowances for doubtful debts of HK$8,886,000 (2015: HK$6,987,000) were recognised. The 
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

(c) Trade debtors that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade debtors that are neither individually nor collectively considered 
to be impaired is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 104,732 77,076

Less than 1 month past due 5,343 15,720
1 to 3 months past due 2,478 1,443
More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due 1,428 1,526
More than 12 months past due 1,612 279

10,861 18,968

115,593 96,044

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of customers for 
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers 
that have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management 
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there 
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully 
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 62,157 59,260
  

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:

2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 162,199 155,655
Adjustments for:

Surplus on revaluation of investment properties 11 (57,724) (48,885)
Depreciation 11 31,640 33,980
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 1,475 980
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 11(a) 428 48,601
Finance costs 5(a) 9,557 14,444
Interest income 4 (1,305) (1,488)
Share of profits less losses of associates 14 (12,376) (4,205)
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) of 

loans to an associate 5(c) 711 (1,566)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 4 211 (154)
Reclassification from equity on disposal of 

available-for-sale securities 4 – (35)
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (12,699) 6,203

Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 26,774 (9,253)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other 

receivables (27,173) 26,049
Decrease in creditors and accrued charges (2,618) (14,760)
Increase in deferred rental expenses 217 232
Increase in rental deposits received 6 1,630
(Decrease)/increase in accrued employee 

benefits (51) 11
  

Cash generated from operations 119,272 207,439
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Creditors and accrued charges 131,053 133,671
Rental deposits 8,422 2,578
Amount due to a related company 689 689

  

140,164 136,938
  

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised as income within 
one year or are repayable on demand.

Amount due to a related company is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 
The related company has a common director and shareholder with the Company.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable 
(which are included in trade and other payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 month 20,658 24,676
Over 1 month but within 3 months 14,896 14,698
Over 3 months but within 6 months 1,011 1,242
Over 6 months 1,467 1,152

  

38,032 41,768
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

20. BANK LOANS

At 31 December 2016, the bank loans were repayable as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year or on demand 329,585 329,405

After 1 year but within 2 years – 9,006
After 2 years but within 5 years – 17,683
After 5 years – 10,609

– 37,298
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

329,585 366,703

At 31 December 2016 and 2015, all bank loans were secured.

At 31 December 2016, an investment property, leasehold land and buildings, inventories and other 
assets of the Group with aggregate net carrying value of HK$1,862,902,000 (2015: HK$1,817,368,000) 
were pledged to various banks to secure the bank loans and overdrafts granted to the Group. 
Details of the secured assets are as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties (note 11(e)) 1,616,473 1,558,749
Land and buildings (note 11(e)) 74,998 77,825
Inventories (note 16(a)) 104,057 117,537
Other assets 67,374 63,257

  

1,862,902 1,817,368
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

20. BANK LOANS (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to 
certain of the Group’s or relevant subsidiaries’ financial ratios, as are commonly found in lending 
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the drawn 
down facilities would become payable on demand.

At 31 December 2016, an overseas subsidiary of the Group could not fulfil certain covenants 
imposed by banks on certain loans of an aggregate amount of HK$17,974,000. These loans were 
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

At 31 December 2015, an overseas subsidiary of the Group could not fulfil certain covenants 
imposed by a bank on certain loans of an aggregate amount of HK$4,736,000. Following the 
application of a waiver of the above breach to the bank, the overseas subsidiary was granted a 
waiver by the bank on 27 March 2016.

Such breach entitled the bank to declare the outstanding principal amount, accrued interest and 
other sums payable under the agreement to become immediately due and payable.

Other than the above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the covenants relating to drawn down 
facilities has been breached. Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set 
out in note 26(b).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

21. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position represents:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Provision for Hong Kong Profits 
Tax for the year 27,975 10,740

Provisional Profits Tax paid (17,382) (25)
Balance of Profits Tax provision relating to prior 

years – (274)
  

10,593 10,441

Provision for tax outside Hong Kong 31,199 17,393
  

41,792 27,834
  

Representing:

Tax recoverable – (281)
Tax payable 41,792 28,115

  

41,792 27,834
  

In October 2016, a PRC municipal office of State Administration of Taxation (“tax authority”) 
raised enquiries in relation to Corporate Income Tax of a subsidiary of the Group in relation 
to the years from 2008 to 2015. The relevant subsidiary has submitted certain required 
information to the tax authority. The case is still on-going, no conclusion was reached.

Owing to the uncertainty inherent in the case of this nature, the final outcome may result 
in an impact to the Group’s provision for tax outside Hong Kong in the period in which 
conclusion is made.

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on the future tax treatment of certain 
transactions and interpretation of tax rules. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of 
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions 
is reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislation.

Where the final outcome is different from initial assessment, the income tax provisions 
recognised could be affected by differences in this assessment.
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21. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i) Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and the movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation  
allowances  

in excess of  
the related  

depreciation

Revaluation  
of land and  

buildings

Provisions  
and  

allowances
Tax  

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax arising 
from:

At 1 January 2015 20,787 10,587 (3,669) (15,350) 12,355
(Credited)/charged  

to profit or loss  
(note 6(a)) (8,219) – (5,167) 15,350 1,964

     

At 31 December 2015 12,568 10,587 (8,836) – 14,319
     

At 1 January 2016 12,568 10,587 (8,836) – 14,319
Credited to profit or loss 

(note 6(a)) (1,385) – (1,149) – (2,534)
     

At 31 December 2016 11,183 10,587 (9,985) – 11,785
     

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position (9,985) (8,836)

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position 21,770 23,155

  

11,785 14,319
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

21. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(s), the Group has not recognised 
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of HK$385,931,000 (2015: HK$447,404,000), 
as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be 
available in the relevant tax jurisdictions and entities. The tax losses of the Group amounting 
to HK$32,881,000 (2015: HK$69,774,000) does not expire under current tax legislation, while 
the remaining tax losses amounting to HK$353,050,000 (2015: HK$377,630,000) will expire 
at various dates up to and including 2036 as follows:

2016 2015
Expiring in year: HK$’000 HK$’000

2016 – 49,098
2017 111,035 110,983
2018 48,777 48,731
2019 164 5,601
2020 178 9,207
2021 189 –
2028 34,109 34,109
2029 31,233 23,790
2030 29,250 29,250
2031 31,900 31,629
2032 16,265 15,826
2033 642 –
2034 397 –
2035 19,830 19,406
2036 29,081 –

  

353,050 377,630
No expiry date 32,881 69,774

  

385,931 447,404
  

22. DEFERRED RENTAL EXPENSES

Deferred rental expenses represent lease incentives received by the Group in respect of operating 
leases. It is credited to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered 
by the lease terms.

23. RENTAL DEPOSITS

Rental deposits represent amount of rental deposits received which are expected to be settled 
after more than one year.
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24. ACCRUED EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 302 291
Additional provision made 28 11
Provision utilised (79) –

251 302

Accrued employee benefits represent provision for long service payments in respect of the Group’s 
employees on termination of employment in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s 
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of 
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and 
the end of the year are set out below:

Share  
capital

Share  
premium

Capital  
reserve

Contributed  
surplus

Retained  
profits Total

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2015 95,059 185,138 9,347 175,594 456,624 921,762

Change in equity for 2015:
Loss and total comprehensive 

income for the year – – – – (35,389) (35,389)
      

Balance at 31 December 2015 
and 1 January 2016 95,059 185,138 9,347 175,594 421,235 886,373

Changes in equity for 2016:
Profit and total 

comprehensive income for 
the year – – – – 4,090 4,090

Dividend approved in respect 
of the previous year 25(b)(ii) – – – – (14,259) (14,259)

      

Balance at 31 December 2016 95,059 185,138 9,347 175,594 411,066 876,204
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25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend proposed after the end of 
the reporting period of HK 1.5 cents per 
ordinary share (2015: HK 1.5 cents per 
ordinary share) 14,259 14,259

  

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been recognised 
as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

(ii) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the previous 
financial year, approved and paid during the year.

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend in respect of the previous 
financial year, approved and paid during 
the year, of HK 1.5 cents per share (2015: 
HK$Nil per share) 14,259 –

  

(c) Issued share capital

2016 2015
Number of  

shares
Number of  

shares
’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000

Ordinary shares, issued and fully 
paid:

At the beginning and the end of the 
year 950,588 95,059 950,588 95,059



KA
D

ER
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
C

O
M

PA
N

Y 
LI

M
IT

ED

110

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(c) Issued share capital (Continued)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to 
time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares 
rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by section 40 of the Companies 
Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(ii) Capital reserve

The capital reserve arose from acquisitions of subsidiaries and associates prior to 1 
January 2001, where the excess of the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities acquired over the cost of the acquisition was credited to the capital 
reserve.

(iii) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus may be utilised in accordance with the Bye-laws and other 
relevant laws of Bermuda, being the place of incorporation of the Company.

(iv) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve 
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1(v).

(v) Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt with in accordance with the 
accounting policies adopted for land and buildings set out in note 1(i).

(vi) Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-
for-sale securities held at the end of the reporting period and is dealt with in accordance 
with the accounting policies set out in notes 1(f) and 1(l)(i).
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25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(e) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2016, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity 
shareholders of the Company was HK$586,660,000 (2015: HK$596,829,000).

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with 
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a 
balance between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of 
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes 
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. 
For this purpose the Group defines net debt as total debt (which includes interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and rental deposits) plus unaccrued proposed 
dividends, less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components of 
equity, less unaccrued proposed dividends.

During 2016, the Group’s strategy was to maintain the adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio 
under 100%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new 
debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.
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25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(f) Capital management (Continued)

The Group’s net debt-to-capital ratios at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables 19 140,164 136,938
Bank loans 20 329,585 329,405

  

469,749 466,343
Non-current liabilities:
Bank loans 20 – 37,298
Rental deposits 23 2,720 8,558

  

Total debt 472,469 512,199
Add: proposed dividends 25(b) 14,259 14,259
Less: cash and cash equivalents 18(a) (62,157) (59,260)

  

Adjusted net debt 424,571 467,198
  

Total equity 1,802,233 1,717,458
Less: proposed dividends 25(b) (14,259) (14,259)

  

Adjusted capital 1,787,974 1,703,199
  

Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio 23.7% 27.4%
  

The Group is subject to the fulfilment of certain covenants which include maintaining its 
adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio below 100%. Except for the above, neither the Company 
nor any of its other subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the 
Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments 
in other entities and movements in its own equity share price. The Group’s exposure to these 
risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the Group to manage 
these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, investments 
in securities and deposits with banks. Management has a credit policy in place and the 
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, credit evaluations are performed on all customers 
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history 
of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information 
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the 
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 90 days from the date of billing. Normally, 
the Group does not obtain collateral from customers in its toys and model trains business. In 
respect of the Group’s property investment business, deposits of two to three months’ rent 
are normally required from lessees.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics 
of each customer rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate and 
therefore significant concentration of credit risk primarily arises when the Group has significant 
exposure to individual customers. At the end of the reporting period, 34.54% (2015: 30.17%) 
and 49.99% (2015: 41.29%) of the total trade and other receivables were due from the Group’s 
largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Investments are normally only in liquid securities quoted on a recognised stock exchange, 
except where entered into for long term strategic purposes. Placement of bank deposits are 
normally with counterparties that have sound credit ratings.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from 
trade and other receivables are set out in note 17.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management 
including the short term investment of cash surpluses. The Group’s policy is to regularly 
monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it 
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and adequate 
committed lines of funding from financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the 
short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting 
period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash 
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based 
on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be 
required to pay:

For the term loans subject to repayment on demand clauses which can be exercised at 
the lender’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on the contractual 
repayment schedule and, separately, the impact to the timing of the cash outflows if the 
lenders were to invoke to unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate effect.



KA
D

ER
 H

O
LD

IN
G

S 
C

O
M

PA
N

Y 
LI

M
IT

ED

115

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

2016 2015
Total contractual undiscounted cash outflow Total contractual undiscounted cash outflow  

On  
demand

Within  
1 year

More than  
1 year but  
less than  

2 years

More than  
2 years 

but  
less than  

5 years

More  
than  

5 years Total
Carrying  

amount
On  

demand
Within  
1 year

More than  
1 year but  
less than  

2 years

More than  
2 years but  

less than  
5 years

More  
than  

5 years Total
Carrying  
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Creditors and accrued 
charges – 131,053 – – – 131,053 131,053 – 133,671 – – – 133,671 133,671

Amount due to a related 
company – 689 – – – 689 689 – 689 – – – 689 689

Rental deposits – 8,422 2,720 – – 11,142 11,142 – 2,578 8,558 – – 11,136 11,136
Bank loans – 273,032 30,477 27,616 9,913 341,038 329,585 – 299,099 21,998 44,445 10,609 376,151 366,703

– 413,196 33,197 27,616 9,913 483,922 472,469 – 436,037 30,556 44,445 10,609 521,647 512,199

Adjustments to present 
cash flows on bank loans 
based on lender’s right 
to demand repayment 329,585 (273,032) (30,477) (27,616) (9,913) (11,453) 319,394 (288,414) (12,749) (26,521) – (8,290)

329,585 140,164 2,720 – – 472,469 319,394 147,623 17,807 17,924 10,609 513,357

As shown in the above analysis, bank loans of the Group amounting to HK$273,032,000 
are due to be repaid during 2017. The short-term liquidity risk inherent in this contractual 
maturity date was addressed at the time the loans were drawn. The Group will in due course 
commence refinancing of its bank loans which are due for maturity in December 2017. Based 
on the Group’s past ability to financing and good relationship with a number of financial 
institutions, the Group expects to have adequate source of funding to finance and manage 
its liquidity position.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings. Bank borrowings issued 
at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and 
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The Group monitors the level of its net fixed rate 
and variable rate borrowings and manages the contractual terms of the interest-bearing 
financial assets and liabilities. For this purpose the Group defines “net borrowings” as being 
interest-bearing financial liabilities less interest-bearing investments (excluding cash held 
for short-term working capital purposes). The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by 
management is set out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s net borrowings (as 
defined above) at the end of the reporting period.

2016 2015
Effective  

interest  
rate Amount

Effective  
interest  

rate Amount
Note % HK$’000 % HK$’000

Variable rate borrowings:
Bank loans 20 2.38 329,585 2.51 366,703

    

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2016, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points 
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have decreased/increased 
the Group’s profit after taxation and retained profits by approximately HK$2,728,000 
(2015: HK$3,034,000). Other components of consolidated equity would not be affected 
in response to a general increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit 
after taxation (and retained profits) and other components of consolidated equity that 
would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the 
reporting period and had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held 
by the Group which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of the 
reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from 
floating rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting 
period, the impact on the Group’s profit after taxation (and retained profits) and other 
components of consolidated equity is estimated as an annualised impact on interest 
expense or income of such a change in interest rates. The analysis has been performed 
on the same basis for 2015.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales and purchases which 
give rise to receivables, payables and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign 
currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which the 
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States Dollars 
(“USD”), Renminbi Yuan (“RMB”) and Sterling Pounds (“GBP”).

The Group’s operations outside Hong Kong do not undertake significant transactions in a 
currency other than their respective functional currencies. Funds are retained by the operations 
outside Hong Kong for use within the respective operations.

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to 
currency risk arising from recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency 
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate.

Exposure to foreign currencies
2016 2015

  

USD RMB GBP USD RMB GBP
’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

Trade and other receivables 326 459 – 631 1,526 –
Cash and cash equivalents 474 587 1,382 871 1,009 2
Trade and other payables (40) (1,523) – (309) (2,807) –
Bank loans – – (3,950) – – –

      

Net exposure arising from 
recognised assets and 
liabilities 760 (477) (2,568) 1,193 (272) 2

      

HK$ equivalent 5,928 (533) (24,396) 9,309 (325) 19
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after taxation 
(and retained profits) and other components of consolidated equity that would have 
arisen if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the 
end of the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables 
remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between HKD 
and USD would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of USD 
against other currencies.

2016 2015
  

Increase/  
(decrease)  
in foreign  

exchange rates

Effect on  
profit after  

taxation and  
retained profits

Increase/  
(decrease)  

in foreign  
exchange rates

Effect on  
profit after  

taxation and  
retained profits

HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 5% (22) 5% (14)
(5%) 22 (5%) 14

GBP 5% (1,019) 5% 1
(5%) 1,019 (5%) (1)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of 
the instantaneous effects on each of the Group entities’ profit after taxation and equity 
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated into HKD at the exchange 
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been 
applied to remeasure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the 
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-company 
payables and receivables within the Group which are denominated in a currency other than 
the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. The analysis excludes differences 
that would result from the translation of the financial statements of operations outside 
Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency. The analysis has been performed 
on the same basis for 2015.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments classified as 
available-for-sale equity securities (see note 15). Other than the unquoted securities held 
for strategic purposes, all of these investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are listed both in and outside Hong Kong. Listed investments 
held in the available-for-sale portfolio have been chosen based on their longer term growth 
potential and are monitored regularly for performance against expectations.

At 31 December 2016, it is estimated that changes in the relevant stock market indices (for 
listed investments) with all other variables held constant, would have increased/decreased 
the Group’s profit after taxation (and retained profits) and other components of consolidated 
equity as follows:

2016 2015
  

Increase/  
(decrease)  

in the  
relevant  

risk variable

Effect on  
profit after  

taxation and  
retained  

profits

Effect  
on other  

components  
of equity

Increase/  
(decrease)  

in the  
relevant  

risk variable

Effect on  
profit after  

taxation and  
retained  

profits

Effect  
on other  

components  
of equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Stock market index 
in respect of listed 
investments:

Hang Seng Index 5% – 24 7% – 154
(5)% – (24) (7)% – (154)

Morgan Stanley
Capital International 5% – 202 3% – –
World Index (5)% – (202) (3)% – –

Bloomberg GCC 200 10% – 145 33% – 342
Energy index (10)% – (145) (33)% – (342)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after taxation 
(and retained profits) and other components of consolidated equity that would have arisen 
assuming that the changes in the stock market indices had occurred at the end of the reporting 
period and had been applied to remeasure those financial instruments held by the Group 
which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period. It is also 
assumed that the fair values of the Group’s equity investments would change in accordance 
with the historical correlation with the relevant stock market indices, that none of the Group’s 
available-for-sale investments would be considered impaired as a result of the decrease in 
the relevant stock market indices or other relevant risk variables, and that all other variables 
remain constant. The analysis has been performed on the same basis for 2015.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured 
at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level 
into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the 
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

• Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement 
date

• Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable 
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. 
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available.

• Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

Fair value  
as at 31  

December 
2016

Fair value measurements  
as at 31 December 2016  

categorised into
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurements
Assets:
Listed available-for-sale securities:

– equity 3,972 3,972 – –
– debt 829 829 – –

Unlisted available-for-sale securities:
– equity 3,807 – 3,807 –
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Fair value  
as at 31  

December 
2015

Fair value measurements  
as at 31 December 2015  

categorised into
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurements
Assets:
Listed available-for-sale securities:
– equity 3,194 3,194 – –
– debt 842 842 – –

During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, there were no transfers between 
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise 
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period 
in which they occur.

(ii) Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair value

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortised 
cost are not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2016 and 2015.

27. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2016 not provided for in the financial 
statements were as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted for 1,844 1,570
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

27. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) At 31 December 2016, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases are payable as follows:

Land and buildings Others
2016 2015 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 5,975 5,543 156 43
After 1 year but within 5 years 1,216 2,735 160 139

7,191 8,278 316 182

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties and items of equipment under 
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of two to three years, with an 
option to renew each lease upon expiry when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases 
includes contingent rentals.

28. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme (“ORSO scheme”) for 
all qualifying employees. Effective from 1 December 2000, all Hong Kong based employees were 
also covered under a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) scheme, and the existing ORSO scheme 
was modified to provide extra benefits for existing and new employees. The amounts of employer’s 
and employees’ contributions to the ORSO scheme are reduced by the amount required to be paid 
to the MPF scheme. The contributions to the ORSO scheme are supplementary contributions, over 
and above the minimum MPF requirements. The assets of the ORSO scheme are held separately 
under a provident fund managed by an independent trustee. Pursuant to the rules of the ORSO 
scheme, the employees are required to make contributions to the ORSO scheme calculated at 
5% of their basic salaries on a monthly basis whilst the employer’s contributions vary with the 
number of years of service of the employees from 5% to 10% of the basic monthly salary. The 
employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s contributions to the ORSO scheme and the 
accrued interest after 10 complete years’ service, or at an increasing scale of between 50% to 
90% after completion of 5 to 9 years’ service.

Where there are employees who leave the ORSO scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions, 
in accordance with the rules of the ORSO scheme, the forfeited employer’s contributions shall be 
used to reduce the future contributions of the employer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

28. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Continued)

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged to make lump sum payments 
on cessation of employment in certain circumstances to employees who have completed at least 
five years of service with the Group. The amount payable is dependent on the employees’ final 
salary and years of service, and is reduced by entitlements accrued under the retirement schemes 
of the Group that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC participate in the defined contribution retirement schemes 
operated by the local authorities for employees in the PRC. Contributions to these schemes are 
charged to profit or loss when incurred.

Under the PRC Labour Contract Law, the Group is obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation 
of employment in certain circumstances to employees. The amount payable is dependent on the 
employees’ final salary and years of service.

Employees in the United States of America are covered by a profit sharing plan under section 401 
(k) of the Internal Revenue Code covering all eligible employees. The plan provides for contributions 
from both the employer and eligible employees. Employer’s contributions are voluntary and are 
determined each year at the discretion of management.

As regards employees in Europe, contributions are made by the employer to a money purchase 
defined contribution pension scheme for certain of its employees. The assets of the scheme are 
held separately by an independent administered fund.

29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, 
the Group entered into the following material related party transactions:

(a) Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group are disclosed in notes 7 and 8 
to the financial statements.

(b) As at 31 December 2016, the Group advanced funds totalling HK$39,776,000 (2015: 
HK$38,950,000) to certain associates in which certain directors of the Company have beneficial 
interests. Further details of the associates are given in note 14 to the financial statements.

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group entered into certain sales agreements 
with an associate. The Group sold products to an associate amounted to HK$1,399,000 
(2015: HK$2,710,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

30. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At
31 December

2016

At
31 December

2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Interest in subsidiaries 876,319 886,965

  

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 338 336
Current tax recoverable – 25
Cash and cash equivalents 1,920 1,125

  

2,258 1,486
  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 2,340 2,078
Tax payable 33 –

  

2,373 2,078
  

Net current liabilities (115) (592)
  

NET ASSETS 876,204 886,373
  

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 25(a)
Share capital 95,059 95,059
Reserves 781,145 791,314

  

TOTAL EQUITY 876,204 886,373
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

31. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group believes the following critical accounting policies involves the most significant judgements 
and estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements.

(a) Valuation of investment properties

The fair valuation of the Group’s investment properties is conducted by an independent 
firm of surveyors by either making reference to comparable sales evidence in the relevant 
locality, or otherwise, by capitalising the current rent derived from the existing tenancies with 
provision for any reversionary income potential. The valuation model used by the property 
valuer makes use of market inputs. Should changes be made to these market inputs, the 
corresponding investment property valuation would change.

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment may 
not be recoverable, the assets may be considered “impaired” and are tested for impairment 
in accordance with HKAS 36, Impairment of assets. An impairment loss is recognised when 
the asset’s recoverable amount has declined below its carrying amount. The recoverable 
amount is the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The asset’s 
recoverable amount will also be estimated if circumstances indicate that an impairment loss 
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased. An impairment loss is reversed 
if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. In determining the recoverable amount, significant judgements are required and the 
Group uses all readily available information, including estimates based on reasonable and 
supportable assumptions, projections of sale volume and operating costs or other market 
data, to arrive at an amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable amount. Any 
adverse changes in the assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount would cause 
the carrying amount of the asset to be significantly different from the recoverable amount.

(c) Write-down of inventories

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts of inventories with reference to 
aged inventories analyses, projections of expected future saleability of goods and, management 
experience and judgement. Based on this review, a write-down of inventories will be made 
when the estimated net realisable value of inventories decline below their carrying amounts. 
Due to changes in customers’ preferences, actual saleability of goods may be different from 
estimations and profit or loss in future accounting periods could be affected by differences 
in these estimations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

32. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT 
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of 
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 
2016 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These include the following 
which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for 
accounting 

periods beginning 
on or after

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows: Disclosure initiative 1 January 2017

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Recognition of deferred  

 tax assets for unrealised losses
1 January 2017

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments 1 January 2018

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018

HKFRS 16, Leases 1 January 2019

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments and 
new standards is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has identified 
some aspects of the new standards which may have a significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. Further details of the expected impacts are discussed below. As the Group 
has not completed its assessment, further impacts may be identified in due course and will be 
taken into consideration when determining whether to adopt any of these new requirements before 
their effective date and which transitional approach to take, where there are alternative approaches 
allowed under the new standards.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

32. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT 
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 will replace the current standard on accounting for financial instruments, HKAS 39, 
Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 
classification and measurement of financial assets, calculation of impairment of financial assets 
and hedge accounting. On the other hand, HKFRS 9 incorporates without substantive changes 
the requirements of HKAS 39 for recognition and derecognition of financial instruments and the 
classification of financial liabilities. Expected impacts of the new requirements on the Group’s 
financial statements is the new impairment model.

The new impairment model in HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with an 
“expected credit loss” model. Under the expected credit loss model, it will no longer be necessary 
for a loss event to occur before an impairment loss is recognised. Instead, an entity is required 
to recognise and measure expected credit losses as either 12-month expected credit losses or 
lifetime expected credit losses, depending on the asset and the facts and circumstances. This 
new impairment model may result in an earlier recognition of credit losses on the Group’s trade 
receivables and other financial assets. However, a more detailed analysis is required to determine 
the extent of the impact.

HKFRS 16 Leases

In respect of lease accounting for leases, the current policy is set out in note 1(k). Under HKFRS 
16, lessees will no longer distinguish between finance leases and operating leases. Instead, subject 
to practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases in a similar way to current finance lease 
accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease the lessee will recognise and measure 
lease liability at the present value of the minimum future lease payments and will recognise a 
corresponding “right-of-use” assets. After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee 
will recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the 
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the current policy of recognising rental expenses 
incurred under operating leases on a systematic basis over the lease term. As disclosed in note 
27(b), at 31 December 2016, the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases amounted to HK$7.5 million. Most of these amounts may therefore need to be 
recognised as lease liabilities, with corresponding right-of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is adopted.
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Group Properties

Details of the major property of the Group are as follows:

Location Existing use Term of lease

Major property held for investment

A portion of Ground Floor,  
whole of First, Second,  
Third, Fourth Floors,  
a portion of Fifth Floor, 
the whole of Sixth, Seventh, 
Eighth, Ninth, Tenth Floors,  
a portion of Eleventh Floor, 
Kader Building, 
22 Kai Cheung Road 
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon 
HONG KONG

Industrial and office rental Medium-term
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Five-Year Summary

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 753,545 893,447 825,229 927,773 1,251,061
     

Profit/(loss) from operations 102,367 115,443 4,284 (60,981) (97,443)
Finance costs (9,557) (14,444) (17,106) (15,434) (13,337)
Share of profits less losses of 

associates 12,376 4,205 3,716 3,263 (3,373)
(Impairment)/reversal of impairment 

of loans to an associate (711) 1,566 1,883 – (3,897)
Surplus on revaluation of investment 

properties 57,724 48,885 156,860 129,058 300,169
     

Profit before taxation 162,199 155,655 149,637 55,906 182,119
Income tax expense (38,651) (29,132) (2,027) (1,073) (15,218)

     

Profit for the year 123,548 126,523 147,610 54,833 166,901
     

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 122,905 124,339 145,840 50,930 164,585
Non-controlling interests 643 2,184 1,770 3,903 2,316

     

Profit for the year 123,548 126,523 147,610 54,833 166,901
     

Earnings per share
Basic 12.93¢ 13.08¢ 15.69¢ 7.44¢ 24.03¢
Diluted 12.93¢ 13.08¢ 15.69¢ 7.44¢ 24.03¢
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Five-Year Summary (Continued) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 1,747,032 1,706,476 1,720,370 1,582,653 1,441,060
Intangible assets 1,679 1,548 2,595 3,744 4,734
Interests in associates 53,845 40,643 25,206 20,025 11,620
Non-current financial assets 8,608 4,036 6,994 10,136 10,537
Deferred tax assets 9,985 8,836 3,669 3,948 7,736

     

Non-current assets 1,821,149 1,761,539 1,758,834 1,620,506 1,475,687
Net current assets/(liabilities) 9,670 28,860 (94,064) (197,985) (137,283)

     

Total assets less current liabilities 1,830,819 1,790,399 1,664,770 1,422,521 1,338,404
Non-current liabilities (28,586) (72,941) (75,160) (69,532) (44,959)

     

NET ASSETS 1,802,233 1,717,458 1,589,610 1,352,989 1,293,445
     

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 95,059 95,059 95,059 66,541 66,541
Reserves 1,710,477 1,621,954 1,494,189 1,282,608 1,227,162

     

Total equity attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company 1,805,536 1,717,013 1,589,248 1,349,149 1,293,703

Non-controlling interests (3,303) 445 362 3,840 (258)
     

TOTAL EQUITY 1,802,233 1,717,458 1,589,610 1,352,989 1,293,445
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